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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The forward-looking statements included in the “lBess,” “Risk Factors,” “Legal Proceedings,” “Mamagent’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiiems,” and “Quantitative and Qualitative DiscloesiAbout Market Risk” sections and
elsewhere herein, which reflect our best judgmased on factors currently known, involve risks andertainties. Words such as “expects,”
“anticipates,” “believes,” “intends,” “plans,” “hp@s,” and variations of such words and similar egpions are intended to identify such
forward-looking statements. Such statements spelgkas to the date thereof. Except as may be red iy law, we expressly disclaim any
obligation to update these forward-looking statetsiém reflect events or circumstances after the dathis Form 10-K or to reflect the
occurrence of unanticipated events. Actual resudtdd differ materially from those anticipated hrese forward-looking statements as a result
of a number of factors including, but not limiteg the factors discussed in such sections andgriicplar, those set forth in the cautionary
statements contained in “Risk Factors.” The forwaaking information we have provided in this Folf®-K pursuant to the safe harbor
established under the Private Securities LitigaRefiorm Act of 1995 should be evaluated in the exindf these factors.




PART |

Item 1. Business
Description of Business

Denny’s Corporation (Denny’s) is one of Americasgdest franchised full-service restaurant chairenriy’s, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Denny’s, Inc., owns and operates then®'s brand. At December 31, 2014 , the Denny’'sidreonsisted of 1,702 franchised,
licensed and company operated restaurants aroenddhd with combined sales of $2.6 billion , inding 1,596 restaurants in the United
States and 106 international locations. As of Dduem31, 2014 , 1,541 of our restaurants were fiigadhor licensed, representing 91% of the
total restaurants, and 161 were company operated.

Denny’s is known as America's Diner, or in the cafseur international locations, “the local dine©pen 24/7 in most locations, we provide
our guests quality food that emphasizes everydayevand new products through our compelling limitiete only offerings, delivered in a
warm, friendly “come as you are” atmosphere. Denig/best known for its breakfast fare, which iailable around the clock. The Original
Grand Slam, introduced in 1977, remains one ofoast popular menu items. In addition to our brestkédl-day items, Denny's offers a wide
selection of lunch and dinner items including busgsandwiches, salads and skillet entrées, alathgan assortment of beverages, appetizers
and desserts.

In 2014, Denny's average annual restaurant sales$2el million for company restaurants and $1.Hianifor franchised restaurants (taking
into consideration that 2014 was a 53 week yedarhuh company restaurants, the guest check avevagé9.19 with an approximate average
of 4,300 guests served per week. Because our rastalare open 24 hours, we have four daypartakfast, lunch, dinner and late night),
accounting for 24%, 35%, 22% and 19%, respectivdlpverage daily sales at company restaurantsk&vels have traditionally been the m
popular time for guests to visit our restauram<2014, 36% of an average week of sales at comptgurants occurred between Friday late
night and Sunday lunch.

References to "Denny's," the "Company,” "we," "@U "our" in this Form 10-K are references to BesCorporation and its subsidiaries.

Restaurant Development
Franchising

Our criteria to become a Denny'’s franchisee inclenil@mum liquidity and net worth requirements ambeopriate operational experience. We
believe that Denny is an attractive financial proposition for cutrand potential franchisees and that our fee sirads competitive with otht
full-service brands. Traditional twenty-year Dersjranchise agreements have an initial fee of @000 and the royalty payment is up to
4.5% of gross sales. Additionally, our franchisaesrequired to contribute up to 3% of gross sflebrand promotion and may make
additional advertising contributions as part obeal marketing co-operative. Franchise agreementsdntraditional locations, such as
university campuses and military bases, may coriginer royalty and lower advertising contributi@tes than the traditional franchise
agreements. For 2014, our average royalty rateappsoximately 3.98%.

We work closely with our franchisees to plan andaete many aspects of the business. The Dennyistiisge Association ("DFA") was
created to promote communication among our fraeelsiand between the Company and our franchise coitynDFA board members and
Company management primarily work together throBgdnd Advisory Councils relating to Development,rikigting and Operations matters,
as well as through a Supply Chain Oversight Conemitor procurement and distribution matters.
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Site Selection

The success of any restaurant is significanthuiriiced by its location. Our development team woltisely with franchisees and real estate
brokers to identify sites which meet specific semold. Sites are evaluated on the basis of a vafdgctors, including but not limited to:

e demographic:

« traffic patterns

» visibility;

e building constraint:

e competition

* environmental restrictions; a

* proximity to hightraffic consumer activitie

Domestic Development

To accelerate the growth of the brand in certaibemspenetrated markets, we offer certain incergirogirams. These programs provide
significant incentives for franchisees to develagtiple locations in areas where Denny's does agelthe top market share. The benefits to
franchisees include reduced franchise fees, loayalties for a limited time period and credits todscertain development services, such as
architecture and training fees.

In recent years, we have opened restaurant logatithin travel centers, primarily with Pilot andd® Flying J Travel Centers. Additionally,
we have opened nontraditional locations on unitiersimpuses and military bases operating undeDémny's Fresh Express®, Denny's
AlINighter® or The Den® names.

Through our various development efforts, we cutyemive 77 domestic franchised restaurants in emelbpment pipeline. The majority of
these restaurants are expected to open over théveyears. While we anticipate the majority bétrestaurants to be opened under these
agreements, generally as scheduled, from timarte siome of our franchisees' ability to grow andtrttesr development commitments may
hampered by the economy and the lending environment

International Development

In addition to the development agreements signeddmestic restaurants, we have 71 internatioaaichised restaurants in our development
pipeline. This number includes a franchise agre¢mwersigned during 2014 for the development of 8@ Denny’s restaurants in nine
countries in the Middle East over the next ten geBuring 2014, we opened six franchised intermafitocations, including five in Canada ¢
one in the Dominican Republic.

During 2015, we expect to open a total of 35 tdrdBchised restaurants in domestic and internatimaakets, resulting in single digit net
restaurant growth.

Franchise Focused Business Model

Through our development and refranchising efforshave achieved a restaurant portfolio mix of 9td6dhised and 9% company operated.
We expect that our percentage of company restauvdlitgradually decrease. The majority of our aesaint openings and the future growth of
the brand will come primarily from the developmenhfranchised restaurants. The following table siarizes the changes in the number of
company restaurants and franchised and licenséalrasts during the past five years (excludingaations):




2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Company restaurants, beginning of period 163 164 20€ 232 233
Units opened 1 — 1 8 24
Units acquired from franchisees — 2 1 — —
Units sold to franchisees — 2 (36) (30 (24)
Units closed 3 1) (8 4 (2)
End of period 161 162 164 20€ 232
Franchised and licensed restaurants, beginningrodgh 1,537 1,52¢ 1,47¢ 1,42¢ 1,31¢
Units opened 37 46 39 53 112
Units purchased from Company — 2 36 30 24
Units acquired by Company — 2 @ — —
Units closed 33 (33 (29 (30 (28)
End of period 1,541 1,53 1,52¢ 1,47¢ 1,42¢
1,70 1,70C 1,68¢ 1,68¢ 1,65¢

Total restaurants, end of period

The table below sets forth information regarding diistribution of single-store and multi-store thisees as of December 31, 2014 :

Percentage of Percentage of
Franchisees Franchisees Restaurants Restaurants
One 89 33.2% 89 5.8%
Two to five 114 42.€% 341 22.1%
Six to ten 29 10.8% 223 14.5%
Eleven to fifteen 10 3.7% 128 8.C%
Sixteen to thirty 18 6.7% 37C 24.(%
Thirty-one and over 8 3.(% 39t 25.6%
Total 26€ 100.% 1,541 100.%

Restaurant Operations

We believe that the superior execution of basitareant operations in each Denny’s restaurant, lvenét is company or franchised, is critical
to our success. To meet and exceed our gueststejoms, we require both our company and our fieseel restaurants to maintain the same
strict brand standards. These standards relateetpreparation and efficient serving of qualitydamnd the maintenance, repair and cleanlines
of restaurants.

We devote significant effort to ensuring all restands offer quality food served by friendly, knodigable and attentive employees in a clean
and well-maintained restaurant. We seek to ensateour company restaurants meet our high standamisgh a network of Directors of
Company Operations, Company District Managers asthurant level managers, all of whom spend thenitapf their time in the restauran
A network of Regional Directors of Franchise Opierag and Franchise Business Leaders provide ovrsfgur franchised restaurants to
ensure compliance with brand standards, promoteatpral excellence and provide general supposutdfranchisees.

A principal feature of our restaurant operationthé consistent focus on improving operations etréistaurant level. Each company and
franchised restaurant receives regular reviewscaadhing to assess and continually improve restaoggerations. In addition, Denny’s
maintains training programs for hourly employeed sstaurant management. Hourly employee trainfogrnams (including eLearning) are
position-specific and focus on skills and tasksassary to successfully fulfill the responsibilitessigned to them, while continually enhancing
guest satisfaction. Denny's Manager In Training '™ program provides managers with the knowledge Eadership skills needed to
successfully operate a Denny's restaurant. Thevid§ram is required for all new management hiresthnse promoted internally and is also
available to Denny's franchisees to train their aggns.




Product Development and Marketing
Menu Offerings

We are leveraging our heritage with our “AmericBiser" brand positioning, which provides the proenif Everyday Value with craveable,
indulgent products served in a friendly and welaogrétmosphere. This positioning provides the franr&vfor our four primary marketing
strategies: (1) supporting our core "breakfastiajl" platform, (2) delivering everyday affordabjiliprimarily through our $2 $4 $6 $8 Value
Menu®, (3) creating compelling limited-time-onlygalucts and (4) driving relevance beyond breakfidst. Denny’s menu offers a large
selection of high-quality, moderately priced prosugesigned to appeal to all types of guests. \iéx afwide variety of items for breakfast,
lunch, dinner and late night dining, in additiorajapetizers, desserts and beverages. Our Fit Fag® helps our guests identify items best
suited to their dietary needs. Most Denny’s restats offer special items for children and senidneduced prices.

Product Development

Denny'’s is a consumer-driven brand focusing on taky, menu choices and the overall guest expege Our Product Development team
works closely with consumer insights obtained tigtoprimary and secondary qualitative and quantiagtudies. Input and ideas from our
franchisees, vendors and operators are also itéebirato this process. These insights form theeggie foundation for menu architecture,
pricing, promotion and advertising. Before a newnméem can be brought to fruition, it is rigoropgsted against consumer expectations,
standards of culinary discipline, food science tuthnology, nutritional analysis, financial benefitd operational execution. This testing
process ensures that new menu items are not opBatipg, competitive, profitable and marketabld,dan be prepared and delivered with
excellence in our restaurants.

The added value of these insights and strategierstahdings also assists our Restaurant Operatiahinformation Technology staffs in the
evaluation and development of new restaurant pseseand upgraded restaurant equipment that mapembar speed of service, food quality
and order accuracy.

We continually evolve our menu through new addgiateletions or improvements to meet the needschfaging consumer and market place
Product Sources and Availability

Our purchasing department administers programghéprocurement of food and non-food products. fGamchisees also purchase food and
non-food products directly from the vendors undese programs. Our centralized purchasing progsatasigned to ensure uniform product
quality as well as to minimize food, beverage amgpdy costs. Our size provides significant purchggower, which often enables us to obtair
products at favorable prices from nationally redegd manufacturers.

While nearly all products are contracted for by purchasing department, the majority are purchasedlistributed through Meadowbrook
Meat Company ("MBM") under a long-term distributioontract. MBM distributes restaurant products smgplies to the Denng’system fron
approximately 200 vendors, representing approxilp@@% of our restaurant product and supply pureBag/e believe that satisfactory
alternative sources of supply are generally avkl#dr all the items regularly used by our restatsaWe have not experienced any material
shortages of food, equipment, or other productElwhre necessary to our restaurant operations.

Marketing and Advertising

Denny’s marketing team employs integrated markeding) advertising strategies that promote the Denbgand. Brand and communications
strategy, advertising, broadcast media, social metigital media, menu management, product innomadnd development, consumer insights
target segment marketing, public relations, fielarketing and national/local promotions and partmessall fall under the marketing umbrella.

Our marketing campaigns focus on amplifying Denbyand strengths as America's Diner, promotingviir@®us breakfast, lunch, dinner, late
night and Fit Fare® menu offerings in addition ttbvalue and premium limited time only offeringenny's deploys comprehensive
marketing strategies on a national level and thindogal co-operatives, targeting customers thraugfivork, cable and local television, radio,
online, digital, social, outdoor and print media.




Brand Protection & Quality

Denny’s will only serve our guests food that isesafid wholesome and that meets our quality staad@nar systems, from "farm to fork," are
based on Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Po{fiHACCP"), whereby we prevent, eliminate or reglhazards to a safe level to protect th
health of the employees and guests. To ensurbdlis expectation to our guests, Denny’s also isksased systems in place to validate only
approved vendors and distributors which meet aliovicour product specifications and food handlimggedures. Vendors, distributors and
restaurant employees follow regulatory requireméeideral, state and local), industry “best prazticand Denny’s Brand Standards.

We use multiple approaches to quality includingdiparty unannounced restaurant inspections (mjiDenny’s Brand Protection Reviews),
health department reviews and employee/manageirtgain their respective roles. It is a brand staddhat all regulatory reviews/inspections
be submitted to the Brand Protection departmertimi24 hours. We follow-up on all inspections reeel, and assist Operations, Facilities anc
franchisees, where applicable, to bring resolutioregulatory issues or concerns. If operationahtrstandard expectations are not met, a
remediation process is immediately initiated. O&GLCP program uses nationally recognized food sdfatging courses and American
National Standards Institute accredited certifmatprograms

All Denny’s restaurants are required to have agrecertified in food protection on duty for all trewf operation. Our Food Safety/HACCP
program has been recognized nationally by regutatepartments, the restaurant industry and ourspeeone of the best. We continuously
work toward improving our processes and procedMésare advocates for the advancement of foodyseifiéhin the industry’s organizations,
such as the National Council of Chain RestaurahésNational Restaurant Association (NRA) and tiRA Quality Assurance Executive
Study Groups.

Seasonality

Restaurant sales are generally higher in the seaoddhird calendar quarters (April through Septerpthan in the first and fourth calendar
quarters (October through March). Additionally, sevweather, storms and similar conditions may thpales volumes seasonally in some
operating regions.

Trademarks and Service Marks

Through our wholly-owned subsidiaries, we haveaiertrademarks and service marks registered wétuthited States Patent and Trademark
Office and in international jurisdictions, includifiDenny's®", "Grand Slam®", "$2 $4 $6 $8 Value M@ and "Fit Fare®". We consider our
trademarks and service marks important to the ifigation of our restaurants and believe they drmaterial importance to the conduct of our
business. Domestic trademark and service marktratiotms are renewable at various intervals frontal®0 years. International trademark and
service mark registrations have various duratioos 5 to 20 years. We generally intend to renedemnaarks and service marks which com:
for renewal. We own or have rights to all tradensasle believe are material to our restaurant operatin the United States and other
jurisdictions where we do business. In addition,haee registered various domain names on the eiténat incorporate certain of ¢
trademarks and service marks, and believe thesaidamme registrations are an integral part ofidemtity. From time to time, we may resort
to legal measures to defend and protect the usardhtellectual property.

Competition

The restaurant industry is highly competitive. Rasants compete on the basis of name recognitidradvertising; the price, quality, variety
and perceived value of their food offerings; thalgy and speed of their guest service; and thereoience and attractiveness of their facilities

Denny'’s direct competition in the full-service cgdey includes a collection of national and regioctains, as well as thousands of independel
operators. We also compete with quick service ueatds as they attempt to upgrade their menuspréimium sandwiches, entrée salads, new
breakfast offerings and extended hours.

We believe that Denny’s has a number of competgtvengths, including strong brand recognition |l\ladated restaurants and market

penetration. We benefit from economies of scale variety of areas, including advertising, purchgsind distribution. Additionally, we

believe that Denny’s has competitive strengthdiénvtalue, variety and quality of our food produetsd in the quality and training of our
employees. See “Risk Factors” for certain additidaetors relating to our competition in the restau industry.




Economic, Market and Other Conditions

The restaurant industry is affected by many factioduding changes in national, regional and l@adnomic conditions affecting consumer
spending, the political environment (including aaftsvar and terrorism), changes in customer traatflerns, changes in socio-demographic
characteristics of areas where restaurants areelbcehanges in consumer tastes and preferencesages in the number of restaurants,
unfavorable trends affecting restaurant operatisash as rising wage rates, healthcare costdjagikxpenses and unfavorable weather. See
"Risk Factors" for additional information.

Government Regulations

We and our franchisees are subject to local, staderal and international laws and regulationsegowg various aspects of the restaurant
business.

We are subject to Federal Trade Commission reguiand a number of state laws which regulate tfexr ahd sale of franchises. We also are
subject to a number of state laws which regulabstsuntive aspects of the franchisor-franchisediogiship. We believe we are in material
compliance with applicable laws and regulations,vioel cannot predict the effect on operations ofathactment of additional regulations in the
future.

We are also subject to federal and state lawsydig the Fair Labor Standards Act, governing matseich as minimum wage, tip

reporting, overtime, exempt status classificatiod ather working conditions. A substantial numbieour employees are paid the minimum
wage. Accordingly, increases in the minimum wagédemreases in the allowable tip credit (which redueages deemed to be paid to tipped
employees in certain states) increase our labds.cohis is especially true for our operations alifornia, where there is no tip credit.
Employers must pay the higher of the federal dest@nimum wage. We have attempted to offset irsedn the minimum wage through
pricing and various cost control efforts; howewbere can be no assurance that we will be sucdesghese efforts in the future.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act tiedHealth Care and Education Affordability Rectiation Act required that most
individuals obtain health insurance coverage begmm 2014 and also required that certain largplegers offer coverage to their employees
or pay a financial penalty beginning in 2015. Wgdrecomplying with the laws in 2014. Although wewat predict with certainty the
financial and operational impacts the laws will @@n us, we expect that our expenses related ttogaghealth benefits will increase over
long term as a result of this legislation. Any sirtreases could adversely affect our business, flass, financial condition and results of
operations. Additionally, the health care legiglatvill require restaurant companies such as audistlose calorie information on their menus
effective December 1, 2015. We do not expect tarimny material costs from compliance with thisyismn of the law.

We are subject to governmental regulations in otarhational markets impacting the way we do bissiveith our international franchisees.
These include antitrust and tax requirements, lamjzott regulations, import/export/customs and othternational trade regulations, the USA
Patriot Act and the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.

Environmental Matters

Federal, state and local environmental laws andlagigns have not historically had a material intgac our operations; however, we cannot
predict the effect of possible future environmetegislation or regulations on our operations.




Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth information with pext to each executive officer of both Denny’s @ogtion and Denny's Inc.:

Name Age Positions
Christopher D. Bode 52  Senior Vice President, Chief Operating Officer
John W. Dillon 43  Senior Vice President, Chief Marketing Officer
Stephen C. Dunn 50  Senior Vice President, Global Development
Timothy E. Flemming 54 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and ChigaL®fficer
John C. Miller 59  Chief Executive Officer and President
Jill A. Van Pelt 46  Senior Vice President, Chief People Officer
F. Mark Wolfinger 59  Executive Vice President, Chief Administrative ©éfi and Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Bode has been Senior Vice President, Chief &tpey Officer since October 2014. He previouslyesdras Senior Vice President,
Operations from January 2013 to October 2014, aisidhal Vice President, Franchise Operations fdamuary 2012 to January 2013 and as
Vice President, Operations Initiatives from Mard 2 to January 2012. Prior to joining the Compdvi,Bode served as Chief Operating
Officer of QSR Management, LLC (a franchisee of KinhDonuts) from 2008 to 2010.

Mr. Dillon has been Senior Vice President, Chiefrkéging Officer since October 2014. He previousiyved as Vice President, Brand and
Field Marketing from June 2013 to October 2014 asd/ice President, Marketing from July 2008 to J20&3.

Mr. Dunn has been Senior Vice President, Globaldlmment since April 2011. He previously serve&/am® President, Company and
Franchise Development from September 2005 to &20rl1.

Mr. Flemming has been Senior Vice President, Gé@yansel and Chief Legal Officer since March 20@8.previously served as Vice
President, General Counsel and Chief Legal Offieen June 2008 to March 2009.

Mr. Miller has been Chief Executive Officer and $ldent since February 2011. Prior to joining thenpany, he served as Chief Executive
Officer and President of Taco Bueno Restaurants,(&m operator and franchisor of quick service idax eateries) from 2005 to February
2011.

Ms. Van Pelt has been Senior Vice President andf@@ople Officer since October 2014. She previossived as Vice President, Human
Resources from October 2008 to October 2014.

Mr. Wolfinger has been Executive Vice President @hief Administrative Officer since April 2008 a@hief Financial Officer since
September 2005. He previously served as Executiee Rresident, Growth Initiatives from October 2@0&\pril 2008.

Employees

At December 31, 2014 , we had approximately 8,38pleyees, of whom 7,900 were restaurant employswere field support employees
and 300 were corporate personnel. None of our eyapkare subject to collective bargaining agreesndféiny of our restaurant employees
work part-time, and many are paid at or above mimmnwage levels. As is characteristic of the resauindustry, we experience a high level
of turnover among our restaurant employees. We baperienced no significant work stoppages, andawsider relations with our employees
to be satisfactory.




The staff for a typical restaurant consists of Gemeral Manager, two or three Restaurant Managersjgproximately 45 hourly employees.
The Chief Operating Officer, along with the VP, Quamy Operations and the VP, Franchise Operatiatasblkésh the strategic direction and
key initiatives for the Operations Teams. In addifiwe employ two Directors of Company Operatidosr Regional Directors of Franchise
Operations and a team of Company District ManagedsFranchise Business Leaders to guide and suiyeditanchisees and in-restaurant
teams. The duties of the Directors of Operationstriogt Managers and Franchise Business Leadehsdagegular restaurant visits and
inspections, as well as frequent interactions withfranchisees, employees and guests, which ettsei@ngoing adherence to our standards c
quality, service, cleanliness, value and hospitalit

Available Information

We make available free of charge through our welaiinvestor.dennys.com (in the Investor RelatieB&C Filings section) copies of
materials that we file with, or furnish to, the 8dties and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), includig Annual Reports on Form 10-K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current ReportEam 8-K and amendments to those reports, as someaonably practicable after we
electronically file such materials with, or furnigfem to, the SEC.

ltem 1A. Risk Factors

We caution you that our business and operationsulgct to a number of risks and uncertaintie® fletors listed below could cause actual
results to differ materially from our historicakrdts and from projections in forward-looking statmnts contained in this Form 10-K, in our
other filings with the SEC, in our news released iarnpublic statements made orally by our represerds.

A decline in general economic conditions could ads&ly affect our financial results.
Consumer spending habits, including discretiongsnsling on dining at restaurants such as ourgféeeted by many factors including:

* prevailing economic conditior

* energy costs, especially gasoline pri

» levels of employmer

» salaries and wage rat

» consumer confidence; a

e consumer perception of economic conditi

Weakness or uncertainty regarding the United Seteaomy, as a result of reactions to consumeitaedilability, increasing energy prices,
inflation, increasing interest rates, unemploymevas, terrorist activity or other unforeseen evertsld adversely affect consumer spending
habits, which may result in lower restaurant sales.

Our financial condition depends on our ability anithe ability of our franchisees to operate restautarprofitably, to generate positive ca
flows and to generate acceptable returns on invdatapital. The returns and profitability of our réaurants may be negatively impacted b
number of factors, including those described below.

Food service businesses are often adversely affégtehanges in:

e consumer tastes, including nutritional conce

e consumer spending hab

« global, national, regional and local economic ctinds; ant
» demographic trenc

The performance of our individual restaurants mayadversely affected by factors such as:
» traffic patterns

» demographic considerations; i
* the type, number and location of competing restats




Dependence on frequent deliveries of fresh prodmcegroceries subjects food service businessé® task that shortages or interruptions in
supply caused by adverse weather or other conditonld adversely affect the availability, quakiyd cost of ingredients. In addition, the ft
service industry in general, and our results ofrapens and financial condition in particular, mag adversely affected by unfavorable trenc
developments such as:

» inflation;

* increased food cos

e increased energy cos

» labor and employee benefits costs (includingeases in minimum hourly wage, employment tax rdtealth care costs and workers’
compensation costs);

» regional weather conditions; ¢

» the availability of experienced management and lg@mployees

Operating results that are lower than our curretiir&tes may cause us to incur impairment chargegdain londived assets and potentia
close certain restaurants.

The financial performance of our franchisees can gatively impact our business.

As we are heavily franchised, our financial resales contingent upon the operational and finarstiatess of our franchisees. We receive
royalties, contributions to advertising and, in sorases, lease payments from our franchisees. Wedséablished operational standards,
guidelines and strategic plans for our franchishesjever, we have limited control over how our faisees’ businesses are run. While we are
responsible for ensuring the success of our ealiagn of restaurants and for taking a longer tei@avwvith respect to system improvements,
our franchisees have individual business strateggidsobjectives, which might conflict with our intsts. Our franchisees may have business
interests outside of their Denny’s restaurants,ingathem subject to business and financial riskelated to the operation of our restaurants.
These unrelated risks could adversely affect achismee's ability to make payments to us or thelitalbo secure adequate financing to open or
continue operating their Denny’s restaurants. éfyttncur too much debt or if economic or salesdeetheteriorate such that they are unable to
repay existing debt, it could result in financi@tdess or even bankruptcy. Our franchisees aradteg by the implementation of The Patient
Protection and Affordable Care Act and the HealéineCand Education Affordability Reconciliation Atita significant number of franchisees
become financially distressed, it could harm owrating results through reduced royalties and leaseme.

For 2014, our ten largest franchisees accounte8%% of our franchise revenue. The balance of mmnchise revenue is derived from the
remaining 258 franchisees. Although the loss oénexes from the closure of any one franchised restdmay not be material, such revenues
generate margins that may exceed those generatetthéryrestaurants or offset fixed costs which wetioue to incur.

We have guarantees related to certain franchiseseseand loans. Payments under these guarantelesresult from the inability of a
franchisee to fund required payments when due.ugirdecember 31, 2014 , no events had occurreddlusged us to make payments under
the guarantees. There were $9.8 million and $6lllomiof loans outstanding under these programaf @ecember 31, 2014 and December 25
2013, respectively. As of December 31, 2014 ntagimum amounts payable under the lease guarantelean guarantees were $2.0 million
and $1.7 million , respectively.




Our growth strategy depends on our ability and thatour franchisees to open new restaurants. Delaydailures in opening new
restaurants could adversely affect our planned gtow

The development of new restaurants may be adveasfelgted by risks such as:

e costs and availability of capital for the compamg/@r franchisee

e competition for restaurant sit:

« inability to identify suitable franchises

» negotiation of favorable purchase or lease termssfgtaurant site

* inability to obtain all required governmental apyats and permit

» delays in completion of constructit

» challenge of identifying, recruiting and trainingaiified restaurant manage

» developed restaurants not achieving the expecteshoe or cash flov

» challenges specific to the growth of internagiboperations and nontraditional restaurants trextidferent from traditional domestic
development; and

» general economic conditiol

The locations where we have restaurants may ceadeetattractive as demographic patterns change.

The success of our owned and franchised restaugasitgificantly influenced by location. Currenthtions may not continue to be attractive
as demographic patterns change. It is possiblghkateighborhood or economic conditions whereresiraurants are located could decline in
the future, potentially resulting in reduced salethose locations.

Our expansion into international markets may preddncreased risks due to lower customer awarenessu brand, our unfamiliarity
with those markets and other factors.

The international markets in which our franchiseasently operate and any additional markets camdhisees may enter outside of the Unitec
States, have many differences as compared to onestac markets. There may be lower consumer fartyliwith the Denny’s brand in these
markets, as well as different competitive condisioconsumer tastes and economic conditions. Asudtyeur franchised international
restaurants may take longer to reach expected @atkprofit levels, and may never do so, therebgctihg the brand’s overall growth and
profitability. Building brand awareness may takeder than expected, which could negatively impactpofitability in those markets.

We are subject to governmental regulations in ptarhational markets impacting the way we do bissiveith our international franchisees.
These include antitrust and tax requirements, lamjott regulations, import/export/customs and oithirnational trade regulations, the USA
Patriot Act and the Foreign Corrupt Practices Aetilure to comply with any such legal requiremeartsld subject us to monetary liabilities
and other sanctions, which could adversely impactesults of operations and financial condition.

The restaurant business is highly competitive, afdie are unable to compete effectively, our busieewill be adversely affected.

Each of our restaurants competes with a wide waoftestaurants ranging from national and regisastaurant chains to locally owned
restaurants. We expect competition to continuadoeiase. The following are important aspects ofgtition:

* restaurant locatio

e advantageous commercial real estate suitable $taureant:
* number and location of competing restaur:

» attractiveness and repair and maintenance oftiasi

» food quality, new product development and ve

» dietary trends, including nutritional conte

» training, courtesy and hospitality standa

» ability to attract and retain high quality st

e quality and speed of service; i

» the effectiveness of marketing and advertising ot
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Our reputation and business could be materially Inaed as a result of the failure to protect the intég and security of guest information
or employees' personal data.

We receive and maintain certain personal infornmagibout our guests and employees. Our use ofrtfuenation is regulated at the federal
state levels, as well as by certain third-partyt@mots. If our security and information systems@mmpromised as a result of a cyber attack or
any other failures or our business associatesdf@ibmply with these laws and regulations anditifirmation is obtained by unauthorized
persons or used inappropriately, it could advera#lsct our reputation, operations, results of afiens and financial condition, and could
result in litigation against us or the impositidnpenalties. As privacy and information securitwésand regulations change or cyber risks
evolve pertaining to this data, we may incur addii costs to ensure we remain in compliance.

Numerous government regulations impact our busingaad our failure to comply with them could advetgeaffect our business.
We and our franchisees are subject to federak atad local laws and regulations governing, amdhgrahings:

* preparation, labeling, advertising and sale of f

» sanitation and safet

* land use, sign restrictions and environmental mg

« employee health care requirements, includingrttmdementation and uncertain legal, regulatory emst implications of the health care
reform law;

e payment card regulation and related industry r

» the sale of alcoholic beverag

* hiring and employment practices, including minimwage and tip credit laws and fair labor standaads

» Americans with Disabilities Ac

The operation of our franchisee system is alsoestildp regulations enacted by a number of statésidas promulgated by the Federal Trade
Commission. Due to our international franchising, ave also subject to governmental regulationsutiitout the world impacting the way we
do business with our international franchiseewdfor our franchisees fail to comply with thesedaamd regulations, we or our franchisees
could be subjected to restaurant closure, finasalfies and litigation, which may be costly andldcadversely affect our results of operations
and financial condition. In addition, the futureaetment of additional legislation regulating thanfchise relationship could adversely affect ou
operations.

We began complying with The Patient Protection Affdrdable Care Act and the Health Care and Edooafiffordability Reconciliation Act

in 2014. Because of the breadth and complexityisflegislation and the phased-in nature of impletiaéon, we cannot predict with certainty
the financial and operational impacts the laws hélVe on us. However, we expect that our expemrdated to employee health benefits will
increase over the long term as a result of thislagon. Any such increases could adversely aféectbusiness, cash flows, financial condition
and results of operations.

Additionally, the health care legislation will rageirestaurant companies such as ours to dischdeei& information on their menus effective
December 1, 2015. We do not expect to incur angnztcosts from compliance with this provisiontio¢ law, but cannot anticipate the
changes in guest behavior that could result froenriplementation of this provision, which could ban adverse effect on our sales or result
of operations.

We are also subject to federal, state and intemaltiaws regulating the offer and sale of franekisSuch laws impose registration and
disclosure requirements on franchisors in the affet sale of franchises, and may contain provisibassupersede the terms of franchise
agreements, including limitations on the abilityfi@inchisors to terminate franchises and alterchése arrangements.

Litigation may adversely affect our business, fingial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to complaints or litigation broulghtformer, current or prospective employees, custsirfranchisees, vendors, landlords,
shareholders or others. We assess contingencitetd¢mmine the degree of probability and range sbjiibe loss for potential accrual in our
financial statements. An estimated loss contingém@gcrued if it is probable that a liability Haesen incurred and the amount of loss can be
reasonably estimated. Because lawsuits are intgremredictable and unfavorable resolutions canddur, assessing contingencies is highly
subjective and requires judgments about future tsvétie regularly review contingencies to deterntireeadequacy of the accruals and relatec
disclosures. However, the amount of ultimate loay differ from these estimates. A judgment thatascovered by insurance or that is
significantly in excess of our insurance coverageahy claims could materially adversely affect fimancial condition or results of operations.
In
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addition, regardless of whether any claims agaiastre valid or whether we are found to be liabligims may be expensive to defend, and
divert management’s attention away from operateomd hurt our performance. Further, adverse puplieisulting from claims may harm our
business or that of our franchisees.

Negative publicity generated by incidents at a fegtaurants can adversely affect the operating réswf our entire chain and the
Denny's brand.

Food safety concerns, criminal activity, allegescdimination or other operating issues stemmingfome restaurant or a limited number of
restaurants do not just impact that particularagsint or a limited number of restaurants. Rathar entire chain of restaurants may be at risk
from the negative publicity generated by an incidgra single restaurant. The increasing use ofkoedia platforms has increased the speec
and scope of adverse publicity and could hinderatility to quickly and effectively respond to su@ports. This negative publicity can
adversely affect the operating results of our ertirain and the Denny’s brand.

If we lose the services of any of our key managetnegrsonnel, our business could suffer.

Our future success significantly depends on théilwoed services and performance of our key managepersonnel. Our future performance
will depend on our ability to attract, motivate amedain these and other key officers and key teambers, particularly regional and area
managers and restaurant general managers. Compétitithese employees is intense.

If our internal controls are ineffective, we may nde able to accurately report our financial resalor prevent fraud.

We maintain a documented system of internal comtadlich is reviewed and tested by the companylgifak Internal Audit Department. The
Internal Audit Department reports directly to thedit and Finance Committee of the Board of DirestdVe believe we have a well-designed
system to maintain adequate internal controls erbtisiness; however, we cannot be certain thatantrols will be adequate in the future or
that adequate controls will be effective in preuwsgperrors or fraud. Any failures in the effectiess of our internal controls could have an
adverse effect on our operating results or cause fzsl to meet reporting obligations.

As a holding company, Denny’s Corporation dependsupstream payments from its operating subsidiaries

Almost all our assets are owned, and all of ouraiggy revenues are earned, by our subsidiariegfvare also the primary obligors for
substantially all of the indebtedness, obligatiand liabilities related to our business. Accordynglur ability to repurchase shares of our
Common Stock and to make any distributions to darasholders depends on the performance of thosgdsaties and their ability to make
distributions to Denny’s Corporation. Their abiltty make such distributions may be subject to eatiral and other restrictions.

Many factors, including those over which we have oontrol, affect the trading price of our stock.

Factors such as reports on the economy or the pficemmodities, as well as negative or positiveamcements by competitors, regardless ¢
whether the report directly relates to our busipessld have an impact on the trading price ofsiack. In addition to investor expectations
about our prospects, trading activity in our stoak reflect the portfolio strategies and investnadiocation changes of institutional holders, as
well as non-operating initiatives such as our shapairchase program. Any failure to meet markeeetqtions whether for same-store sales,
restaurant unit growth, earnings per share or ottedrics could cause our share price to decline.

Our indebtedness could have an adverse effect onfmancial condition and operations.
As of December 31, 2014 , we had total indebtedoEs&158.8 million , including capital leases.

We continually monitor our cash flow and liquiditgeds. Although we believe that our existing cadhrzes, funds from operations and
amounts available under our credit facility will @agequate to cover those needs, we could seekamdddisources of funds, including incurring
additional debt and selling selected assets, totaiai sufficient cash flow to fund our ongoing cgtimg needs, pay interest and scheduled det
amortization and fund anticipated capital expendiwver the next twelve months. We have no maideist maturities scheduled until April
2018. If we are unable to satisfy or refinance@murent debt as it comes due, we may default ordeht obligations.

For additional information concerning our indebtesssee "Management's Discussion and AnalysisnahEial Condition and Results of
Operations - Liquidity and Capital Resources."
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Our debt instruments include restrictive covenant$hese covenants may restrict or prohibit our ahjlto engage in or enter a variety of
transactions. A breach of these covenants could aacceleration of a significant portion of our catanding indebtedness.

The credit agreement governing our indebtednessit@various covenants that limit, among otherghj our ability to:

* incur additional indebtedne

e pay dividends, repurchase shares of our Commork $tomake distributions or certain other restrigb@gments
* make certain investmen

» create dividend or other payment restrictions diffigcrestricted subsidiarie
» issue or sell capital stock of restricted subsidi

» guarantee indebtedne

» enter into transactions with stockholders or afféis

» create lient

» sell assets and use the proceeds the

* engage in salkaseback transactions; i

e enter into certain mergers and consolidati

These covenants could have an adverse effect dousimess by limiting our ability to take advantadéinancing, merger, acquisition or other
corporate opportunities and to fund our operatithhse incur additional debt in the future, covehlmitations on our activities (and risks
associated with such increased debt levels gepecallld increase.

Though we currently participate in a share repwetogram, such program is subject to restrictiomler our credit agreement and there car
be no assurance that we will repurchase our Comatack pursuant to the program. Our credit agreememtiains additional restrictive
covenants, including financial maintenance requéaets. Our ability to comply with these covenantyibe affected by events beyond our
control, such as uncertainties related to the otieeonomy, and we cannot be sure that we willdde & comply with these covenants.

Upon the occurrence of an event of default undgradiour debt instruments, the lenders could dlececlare all amounts outstanding to be
immediately due and payable and terminate all camarits to extend further credit. If we were unablespay those amounts, the lenders
could proceed against the collateral granted tmthiany, to secure the indebtedness. If the lesxdeder our current or future indebtedness
accelerate the payment of the indebtedness, weothersure that our assets would be sufficienepay in full our outstanding indebtedness.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Most Denny’s restaurants are free-standing faedlitvith property sizes averaging approximately aere. The restaurant buildings average

between 3,800 - 4,800 square feet, allowing theactmmmodate an average of 130-150 guests. Thearwant location of our restaurants as
of December 31, 2014 and December 25, 2013 arenezsbelow:
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2014

2013

State/Country Franchised / Licensed Total Company Franchised / Licensed Total

Alabama 2 5 7 2 5 7
Alaska — 3 3 — 3 3
Arizona 8 68 76 8 72 8C
Arkansas — 9 9 — 9 9
Callifornia 58 342 401 59 35C 40¢
Colorado — 2¢ 29 — 30 3C
Connecticut — 11 11 — 10 1C
Delaware — 1 1 — 1 1
District of Columbia — 2 2 — 2 2
Florida 18 12t 14¢ 18 13C 14¢
Georgia 1 17 18 1 17 1€
Hawaii 2 5 7 3 5 8
Idaho — 11 11 — 10 1c
lllinois 7 48 55 7 48 5E
Indiana — 37 37 — 37 37
lowa — 2 2 — 3 3
Kansas — 8 8 — ) 9
Kentucky 2 15 17 2 15 17
Louisiana 1 3 4 1 3 4
Maine — 7 7 — 7 7
Maryland 3 22 25 & 19 22
Massachusetts — 6 6 — 6 6
Michigan 4 18 22 4 17 21
Minnesota — 14 14 — 13 12
Mississippi 1 3 4 1 2 g
Missouri 4 3€ 40 4 35 3¢
Montana — 4 4 — 4 4
Nebraska — 5 5 — 5 5
Nevada 6 28 34 6 28 34
New Hampshire — 3 3 — 3 3
New Jersey — 9 9 — 9 9
New Mexico — 28 28 — 27 27
New York 1 54 55 1 50 51
North Carolina — 27 27 — 25 2t
North Dakota — 4 4 = 4 4
Ohio 4 3¢ 42 4 37 41
Oklahoma — il 15 — 15 s
Oregon — 25 25 — 24 24
Pennsylvania 11 29 40 11 28 3¢
Rhode Island — 4 4 — 3 3
South Carolina — 1€ 16 — 16 1€
South Dakota — 3 3 — 3 3
Tennessee 2 6 8 2 5 7
Texas 17 178 19C 17 174 191
Utah — 25! 25 — 24 24
Vermont — 2 2 — 2 2
Virginia 9 19 28 9 19 28
Washington — 44 44 — 45 4E
West Virginia — 2 2 — 2 2
Wisconsin — 21 21 — 23 2z



Wyoming — 3 3 — 3

Canada — 68 68 — 64
Chile — 1 1 — 1
Costa Rica — 3 3 — 3
Curacao N.V. — 1 1 — 1
Dominican Republic — 2 2 — 1
El Salvador — 1 1 — 1
Guam — 2 2 — 2
Honduras — 3 3 — 3
Mexico — 6 6 — 6
New Zealand — 7 7 — 7
Puerto Rico — 12 12 — 12
Total 161 1,541 1,70z 162 1,537
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Of the total 1,702 restaurants in the Denny's brandinterest in restaurant properties consiste®following:

Company Franchised
Restaurants Restaurants Total
Owned properties 35 56 91
Leased properties 12¢ 294 42(
161 35C 511

We have generally been able to renew our restalgases as they expire at theurrent market rates. The remaining terms of leesgge fromr
less than one to approximately 38 years, includiptipnal renewal periods. In addition to the resdatiproperties, we own an 18-story,
187,000 square foot office building in Spartanb@guth Carolina, which serves as our corporatedueaters. Our corporate offices currently
occupy 17 floors of the building, with a portiontbe building leased to others.

See Note 10 to our Consolidated Financial Statesrfeninformation concerning encumbrances on sulisiéy all of our properties.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

There are various claims and pending legal actgasnst or indirectly involving us, incidental todaarising out of the ordinary course of the
business. In the opinion of management, based ipormation currently available, the ultimate likityi with respect to these proceedings and
claims will not materially affect the Company's sohlidated results of operations or financial positiwe record legal settlement costs as othe
operating expenses in our Consolidated Statemémsome as those costs are incurred.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable

PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Skimwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seties

Market Information

Our Common Stock is listed under the symbol “DENIMU trades on the NASDAQ Capital Market ("NASDAQI'he following table lists the
high and low sales prices of the Common Stock émhequarter of fiscal years 2014 and 2013 , acogriti NASDAQ.

High Low
2014
First quarter $ 7.4¢ % 6.27
Second quarter 6.9% 6.13
Third quarter 7.2¢ 6.1¢
Fourth quarter 10.7: 6.92
2013
First quarter $ 58¢ $ 4.6¢
Second quarter 6.24 5.27
Third quarter 6.37 5.41
Fourth quarter 7.51 6.01
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Stockholders

As of March 11, 2015 , there were 84,853,855 shaf€ommon Stock outstanding and approximatel@d@record and beneficial holders of
Common Stock.

Dividends and Share Repurchases

Our credit facility allows for the payment of cadiridends and/or the repurchase of our Common Stadiject to certain limitations and
continued maintenance of all relevant covenantsreeind after any such payment of any dividendawkspurchase. An aggregate amount of
$44.6 million is available for such dividends avck repurchases as follows:

* notto exceed $40.0 million if the Consolidatexverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreemisri)Ox or greater and unlimited if the
Consolidated Leverage Ratio is below 2.0x, provitted, in each case, at least $20.0 million of labélity is maintained under the
revolving credit facility after such payment; and

* an additional annual aggregate amount equad@5#times the number of outstanding shares of Com&tock, as of March 27, 2013,
plus each additional share of our Common Stockithiasued after such date.

Though we have not historically paid cash dividemds have in recent years undertaken share remash@he table below provides
information concerning repurchases of shares ofdmmmon Stock during the quarter ended Decembe2®1Y .

Total Number of Maximum

Shares Purchased a Number of Shares

Part of Publicly that May Yet be
Total Number of Average Price Paid Announced Purchased Under

Period Shares Purchased Per Share (1) Programs (2) the Program (2)

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
September 25, 2014 — October 22, 2014 112 % 7.31 112 4,23¢
October 23, 2014 — November 19, 2014 17t 8.7¢ 17t 4,05¢
November 20, 2014 — December 31, 2014 17C 9.7¢ 17C 3,88¢
Total 45¢  $ 8.7¢ 45¢

(1) Average price paid per share excludes commiss

(2) On April 25, 2013, we announced that our Board wé&&ors had approved a new share repurchase pnpgrehorizing us to repurche
up to an additional 10 million shares of our Comn&tock (in addition to a previous 6 million shatgterization completed in the third
quarter of 2013). Such repurchases may take ptacetime to time on the open market (including ie-prranged stock trading plans in
accordance with the guidelines specified in Rule5t0 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) grivately negotiated
transactions, subject to market and business gonditDuring the quarter ended December 31, 20detpurchased 457,600 shares of
Common Stock for an aggregate consideration ofaqmately $4.0 million , pursuant to the share repase program.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

The following table sets forth information as ofde@enber 31, 2014 with respect to our compensatiansplinder which equity securities of
Denny’s Corporation are authorized for issuance.

Number of securities

Number of securities to Weighted average remaining available for
be issued upon exercise exercise price of future issuance under
of outstanding options, outstanding options, equity compensation
Plan category warrants and rights warrants and rights (2) plans
Equity compensation plans approved by securi
holders 3,794,15. (1) $ 3.17 3,028,421 (3)
Equity compensation plans not approved
by security holders 200,000 (4) 3.8¢ 827,58¢ (5)
Total 3,994,15: $ 3.2¢€ 3,856,01!

(1) Includes shares issuable in connection with oustantling stock options, performance share awamisestricted stock units awar

(2) Includes the weightealverage exercise price of stock options ¢

(3) Includes shares of Common Stock availablés&uwance as awards of stock options, restrictadk stestricted stock units, deferred stock
units and performance awards under the 2012 OmiRlars

(4) Includes shares of Common Stock issuable pumtsio the grant or exercise of employment inducdraeards of stock options and
restricted stock units granted outside of the D&nimcentive Plans in accordance with NASDAQ LigtRule 5635(c)(4).

(5) Includes shares of Common Stock availablésEwance as awards of stock options and restrtoetk units outside of the Denny's
Incentive Plans in accordance with NASDAQ Listingl&k5635(c)(4).

Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative totatkholders’ return on our Common Stock for theffiscal years ended December 31,
2014 (December 30, 2009 to December 31, 2014 hsigtie cumulative total return of the Russell Z2008dex and a peer group. The graph
and table assume that $100 was invested on Dece3@b2009 (the last day of fiscal year 2009) inheafcthe Company’s Common Stock, the
Russell 2000® Index and the peer group and thakivtiends were reinvested.
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COMPARISON OF FIVE-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
ASSUMES $100 INVESTED ON DECEMBER 30, 2009

ASSUMES DIVIDENDS REINVESTED

FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014
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—8— Dennv's Corporation —Jil—  Russell 2000 Index

202

+

2013

Peer Crioup

2014

December 30, 2009
December 29, 2010
December 28, 2011
December 26, 2012
December 25, 2013
December 31, 2014

Russell 2000®

Index (1) Peer Group (2) Denny's Corporation
$ 100.0¢ $ 100.0C $ 100.0(
$ 126.3( $ 153.0¢ $ 158.8:
$ 119.0¢ $ 190.2¢ $ 172.8¢
$ 137.8: $ 207.4¢  $ 217.6¢
$ 1934 $ 334.4C $ 334.8¢
$ 203.3: % 401.6. $ 466.5:

(1) The Russell 2000 Index is a broad equity marketxnof 2,000 companies that measures the perfornmatbe small-cap

segment of the U.S. equity universe. As of Decertie2014 , the weighted average market capitédzatf companies within
the index was approximately $1.9 billion with thedran market capitalization being approximately7$gillion.
(2) The peer group consists of 20 public companiesdpatate in the restaurant industry. The peer giacipdes the following

companies: Einstein Noah Restaurant Group, IncEB(through its last public trading day of Novemide 2014), BJ's
Restaurants, Inc. (BJRI), Bob Evans Farms, Inc.BBJ) Buffalo Wild Wings, Inc. (BWLD), The Cheeseeakactory

Incorporated (CAKE), Cracker Barrel Old Country igtdnc. (CBRL), Chipotle Mexican Girill, Inc. (CMGPineEquity, Inc.
(DIN), Dunkin' Brands Group, Inc. (DNKN), DominoRizza, Inc. (DPZ), Brinker International, Inc. (EATack In The Box Inc.
(JACK), Krispy Kreme Doughnuts, Inc. (KKD), Pan@esead Company (PNRA), Papa John’s International, (RZZA), Red
Robin Gourmet Burgers, Inc. (RRGB), Ruby Tuesdag, (RT), Sonic Corp. (SONC), Texas Roadhouse,(In¢RH) and The

Wendy’'s Company (WEN).
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table provides selected financialedditat was extracted or derived from our auditedrftial statements. The data set forth belo
should be read in conjunction with “Management’sddission and Analysis of Financial Condition andus of Operations” and our
Consolidated Financial Statements and related motksded elsewhere in this report.

Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, December 25, December 26, December 28, December 29,
2014 (a) 2013 2012 2011 (b) 2010

(In millions, except ratios and per share amounts)

Statement of Income Data:

Operating revenue $ 472 $ 462.¢ $ 488.. % 538.t $ 548.t
Operating income $ 57.2 % 475 % 56.£ % 51.C % 55.2
Income from continuing operations $ 327 % 24¢€ % 222 % 112 $ 22.7
Basic net income per share: $ 03¢ $ 027 $ 02: % 118 % 0.2t
Diluted net income per share: $ 0371 $ 0.2¢ $ 02: $ 1.1 % 0.22
Cash dividends per common share (c) — — — — —
Balance Sheet Data (at end of period):
Current assets $ 56.1 $ 53¢ % 64.€ $ 612 $ 62.F
Working capital deficit (d) $ (2439 $ (20.5) $ (272 $ (259 $ (27.9)
Net property and equipment $ 109.¢ $ 105.¢ $ 107.C % 1126 $ 129.t
Total assets $ 289.¢ $ 295.6 % 324¢ % 350.5 % 311.2
Long-term debt and capital lease

obligations, excluding current portion ~ $ 1511  $ 165.¢ $ 1778 $ 211 $ 253.1

(&) The fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 imdB weeks of operations as compared with 52 wieeld! other years presented. We
estimate that the additional operating week adgedoximately $10.7 million of operating revenue2ibi 4.

(b) During 2011, we concluded that it was morelffkthan not that certain of our deferred tax ass&tuld be utilized. As a result, we
released the majority of our valuation allowaneepgnizing a tax benefit of $89.1 million.

(c) Prior to the 2010 refinancing of our creditifdy and repurchase and redemption of our puiidibt securities, distributions and dividends
on Denny’s Corporation’s common equity securitiesevprohibited. Our current credit facility allofes the payment of cash dividends
and/or the purchase of Common Stock subject taicelitnitations. See Part Il ltem 5.

(d) A negative working capital position is not unusfaala restaurant operating compa

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjiorctvith “Selected Financial Datagihd our Consolidated Financial Statements anddtes
thereto.

Overview

Nature of Our Busines:

Denny’s Corporation (Denny’s) is one of Americasgest franchised full-service restaurant chaireny’s, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Denny’s, Inc., owns and operates then®'s brand. At December 31, 2014 , the Denny'sidreonsisted of 1,702 franchised,
licensed and company operated restaurants. Cathésint, 1,541 of our restaurants were franchisdidemsed, representing 91% of the total

restaurants, and 161 were company operated.
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Our revenues are derived primarily from two sourties sale of food and beverages at our compangwests and the collection of royalties
and fees from restaurants operated by our franetigeder the Denny’s name. Sales and customdctaaffoth company and franchised
restaurants are affected by the success of ouratiagkcampaigns, new product introductions, custaseevice and menu pricing, as well as
external factors including competition, economiaditions affecting consumer spending and changgsiést tastes and preferences. Sales at
company restaurants and royalty income from fresehéstaurants are also impacted by the openingwfrestaurants, the closing of existing
restaurants and the sale of company restaurafranchisees.

Our operating costs are exposed to volatility in twain areas: payroll and benefit costs and prochstis. The volatility of payroll and benefit
costs results primarily from changes in wage ratesincreases in labor related expenses, suchdisahbenefit costs and workers'
compensation costs. Additionally, changes in goeshts and investments in store-level labor impagtoll and benefit costs as a percentage
of sales. Many of the products sold in our restatsrare affected by commodity pricing and are,dfeee, subject to price volatility. This
volatility is caused by factors that are fundamiyeutside of our control and are often unpreditgaln general, we purchase food products
based on market prices or we set firm prices iclpase agreements with our vendors. Our abilitpts in prices on certain key commaoditie
imperative to control food costs in an environmieanthich many commodity prices are on the riseaddition, our continued success with
menu management helps us to offer menu items thaide a compelling value to our customers whiléntaaning consistent product costs ¢
appropriate profitability.

2014 Summary of Operations

During 2014 , we achieved domestic system-wide sstores sales growth of 2.8% , comprised of a 4r@¥@aseat company restaurants an
2.5% increase at domestic franchised restaurahis.gfowth represents the strongest annual same-sates since 2004 for company
restaurants and since 2006 for franchised restturdfe have had positive system-wide same-stoes s@al14 of the last 15 quarters. The
system-wide same-store sales increases duringi@6tlgled benefits from both product mix and prisereases of around 2%. Company
restaurant same-store sales also benefited frdfic recreases primarily resulting from remodels.

We completed 171 remodels, comprised of 44 compastaurants and 127 franchised restaurants du@ibhg. Most of these remodels were in
our new Heritage image, which we launched latedib3? This updated look reflects a more contempodargr feel to further reinforce our
America's Diner positioning. During 2015, we witirdinue to accelerate the timing of remodels atgamy restaurants with a target of
completing 45 to 50. Franchisees typically remddeir restaurants as required every seven yearexXect the number of remodels at
franchised restaurants to be similar to the numériodeled in 2014.

We also implemented a new franchise agreementgl@fi4, which includes an increased royalty rat4.5% and a reduced advertising
contribution of 3%, excluding any incentives. Therere approximately 230 franchised restaurantsatiper under this agreement as of
December 31, 2014 and we expect there to be 389Qdranchised restaurants operating under thisemgent by the end of 2015. We
anticipate that existing franchisees will electriigrate to the new fee structure over the nextdees incentives under the previous franchise
agreements expire. Due to the long-term migratioexesting franchisees, we won't see the full bérfebm the higher royalty rate for some
time. For 2014, our average royalty rate was apprately 3.98%.

Operating income increased $9.8 million to $57.8Biom in 2014 from $47.5 million in 2013. Net inca@nincreased $8.2 million to $32.7
million , or $0.37 per diluted share, in 2014 conagbto $24.6 million , or $0.26 per diluted shar@013.

We had a 53 week year in 2014, which impacts timepasison of our financial information to the prigrar periods. We estimate that the
additional operating week added approximately $&lBon of company restaurant sales and $2.4 millbd franchise and license revenue and
resulted in approximately $0.6 million of additibigeneral and administrative expenses, $3.6 millibadditional operating income and $2.2
million of additional net income.

Growing the Brand
Over the last five years our growth initiatives bded to 321 new restaurant openings. During 2@&4had net restaurant growth of two

restaurants, with 38 openings and 36 closuresoPemnings included the reopening of our Las VegasrnoaRoyale location, six franchised
international locations and three franchised ndatitiGnal locations.
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Our goal is to increase net restaurant growth tjinaall avenues: domestic, international and noittoendl. Domestic growth will focus in
markets where we have modest penetration. Duriig 20e saw traction in under-penetrated areas asi€harlotte, Atlanta and New York,
including our first restaurant in Manhattan. Wei@ipate continued growth in these areas.

Internationally, we are the largest U.S. basedksiilvice brand operating in Canada and expectiaddi growth in this country. During 2015,
we anticipate the opening of our first restaurarthe United Arab Emirates. The franchise partpeming this restaurant plans to develop 30
new Denny’s restaurants in nine countries in thddié East over the next ten years.

We opened our first nontraditional location under hew The Den® format located adjacent to San®&tgte University in early 2015. We
expect that future non-traditional restaurants lallin this new format and our other existing n@ditional locations will be converted to this
new format over time.

Balancing the Use of Cas

We are focused on balancing the use of cash betwe@®resting in our base of company restaurantsyigng and strengthening the brand and
returning cash to shareholders. As noted abovareraccelerating the timing of remodels at our camyprestaurants under our new Heritage
image. During 2014, approximately $12.2 millionoafr $22.1 million of capital expenditures were froemodels.

During 2014 , we repurchased 5.3 million shareS@hmon Stock for $36.0 million . Since initiatingreshare repurchase programs in
November 2010, we have repurchased a tot21.1 million shares of Common Stock for $108.3 imnill. As of December 31, 2014 , there are
3.9 million shares remaining to be repurchased wutigecurrent repurchase program.

Factors impacting comparability
For 2014, 2013 and 2012, the following items imghetcomparability of our results:

» Company restaurant sales have decreased from $8fi80oh in 2012 to $334.7 million in 2014 , primbras a result of the sale of
restaurants to franchisees in 2012.

* The decline in company restaurant revenues isgtigrtffset by increased royalty income derivedrrthe growth in the franchised
restaurant base resulting from both traditionalettgyment and the sale of restaurants to franchigeea result, royalty income, which is
included as a component of franchise and licensenge, has increased from $83.8 million in 201896.8 million in 2014 .

» The resulting net reduction in total revenuated to the sale of restaurants is generally reeoMey the benefits of a lower cost structure
related to franchise and license revenues.

« Initial franchise fees, included as a componeritaichise and license revenue, are generally rézediin the period in which a
restaurant is sold to a franchisee or when a netaueant is opened. These initial fees are conlpldependent on the number of
restaurants sold to or opened by franchisees darjayticular period and, as a result, can caustuitions in our total franchise and
license revenue from year to year.

« Occupancy revenues, also included as a componérarahise and license revenue, result from leasirgubleasing restaurants to
franchisees. When restaurants are sold and leasedl@ased to franchisees, the occupancy costedelo these restaurants move from
costs of company restaurant sales to costs oftiism@nd license revenue to match the related aomyprevenue. As leases or sublease
with franchisees end over time, franchise occupaaegnue and costs could decrease if franchisdesiato direct leases with
landlords. At the end of 2014, we had 350 franchés¢éaurants that are leased or subleased fromy3enn

e Our fiscal year ends on the last Wednesday in Dbeemi\s a result, a fifty-third week is added tfisaal year every five or six years. As
noted above, the year ended December 31, 2014dexhb3 weeks of operations.
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Statements of Income

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012
(Dollars in thousands)

Revenue:
Company restaurant sales $ 334,68 70.£% $ 328,33 71.(% $ 353,71 72.%8%
Franchise and license revenue 137,61: 29.1% 134,25¢ 29.(% 134,65: 27.€%
Total operating revenue 472,29! 100.C % 462,59: 100.(% 488,36: 100.(%
Costs of company restaurant sales (a):
Product costs 86,82¢ 25.€% 85,54( 26.1% 88,47: 25.(%
Payroll and benefits 133,28 39.6% 131,30! 40.(% 141,30: 39.9%
Occupancy 20,84¢ 6.2 % 21,51¢ 6.€% 23,40¢ 6.6%
Other operating expenses 47,85¢ 14.2% 45,19: 13.&% 49,02t 13.%%
Total costs of company restaurant sales 288,80t 86.5 % 283,55¢ 86.4% 302,20¢ 85.4%
Costs of franchise and license revenue (a) 4476 32.5% 46,10¢ 34.%% 46,67¢ 34. ™%
General and administrative expenses 58,907 12.5% 56,83 12.2% 60,307 12.2%
Depreciation and amortization 21,21¢ 4.5 % 21,50 4.€% 22,30« 4.€%
Operating (gains), losses and other charges, net 1,27C 0.2% 7,071 1.5% 482 0.1%
Total operating costs and expenses, net 414,96 87.€% 415,07: 89.1% 431,97: 88.5%
Operating income 57,33: 12.1% 47,52 10.2% 56,38¢ 11.59%
Interest expense, net 9,18: 1.5% 10,28: 2.2% 13,36¢ 2.1%
Other nonoperating (income) expense, net (612) (0.1)% 1,13¢ 0.2% 7,92¢ 1.€%
Net income before income taxes 48,76: 10.2% 36,10( 7.8% 35,09 7.2%
Provision for income taxes 16,03¢ 3.4% 11,52¢ 2.5% 12,78t 2.€%
Net income $ 32,72¢ 6% $ 24.57: 53% $ 22,30¢ 4.€%
Other Data:
Company average unit sales $ 2,10( $ 2,017 $ 1,93¢
Franchise average unit sales $ 1,50¢ $ 1,42 $ 1,41C
Company equivalent units (b) 15¢ 162 183
Franchise equivalent units (b) 1,53¢ 1,52¢ 1,501
Company same-store sales increase (c)(d) 4.z % 0.C % 0.2 %
Domestic franchised same-store sales increase (c) 25 % 0.€ % 1.7 %

(a) Costs of company restaurant sales percentagess a percentage of company restaurant salsts @fdranchise and license revenue
percentages are as a percentage of franchisecamddi revenue. All other percentages are as anpegeeof total operating revenue.

(b) Equivalent units are calculated as the weightedamesnumber of units outstanding during a defiirae period

(c) Samestore sales include sales from restaurants that agen the same period in the prior y

(d) Prior year amounts have not been restated(fidcomparable restaurar
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Unit Activity

Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, 2014

December 25, 2013

December 26, 2012

Company restaurants, beginning of period 163 164 20€
Units opened 1 — 1
Units acquired from franchisees — 2 1
Units sold to franchisees — ()] (36)
Units closed 3 @ (©)]
End of period 161 163 164
Franchised and licensed restaurants, beginningradg 1,537 1,524 1,47¢
Units opened 37 46 39
Units purchased from Company — 2 36
Units acquired by Company — ()] Q)
Units closed 33 (33 (29
End of period 1,541 1,537 1,52¢
1,70z 1,70C 1,68¢

Total restaurants, end of period

Company Restaurant Operations

Company same-store sales increase d 4.2% in 2@lldearained essentially flat in 2013 , as compari tlve respective prior year. Company
restaurant sales for 2014 increased $6.4 millimnl,.9% , primarily resulting from the additionglerating week and the increase in same-stor
sales. These increases were partially offset bggudvalent unit decrease in company restaurartighancludes the temporary closure of our
highest volume restaurant in Las Vegas, Nevadaengorary closures for remodeling restaurants. Gompestaurant sales for 2013
decreased $25.4 million , or 7.2% , primarily résgl from a 20 equivalent unit decrease in compa&syaurants. The decrease in equivalent
units reflects the impact of our refranchising peog that was completed at the end of 2012.

Total costs of company restaurant sales as a gageenf company restaurant sales were 86.3% in 28&4% in 2013 and 85.4% in 2012 .

Product costs were 25.9% in 2014 , 26.1% in 20182&5n10% in 2012 . The decrease in 2014 was priyndtié to the leveraging effect of
higher sales. The increase in 2013 was primarig/tduthe unfavorable impact of product mix as vaslincreased commodity costs.

Payroll and benefits were 39.8% in 2014 , 40.0%0m63 and 39.9% in 2012 . The decrease in 2014 vimsuply due to a 0.5 percentage point
decrease in labor costs and a 0.3 percentage geintase in workers' compensation costs, parbéfitet by a 0.3 percentage point increase in
group insurance and a 0.3 percentage point inciraseentive compensation costs. The current pesiod included $0.6 million in
unfavorable workers' compensation claims developnesncompared to $2.0 million in unfavorable claidevelopment in the prior year
period. The increase in group insurance relatésa@osts of implementing the Affordable Care Agtig the current year period. The
incentive compensation increase is primarily duméoeased same-store sales performance. The slglegase in 2013 was primarily due to
increased workers' compensation costs that wetialhaoffset by decreased labor costs.

Occupancy costs were 6.2% in 2014 , 6.6% in 20i36a6% in 2012 . The 2014 decrease is primarlbted to an increase in the number of
capital leases and a decrease in rent caused taynckrase amendments.
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Other operating expenses were comprised of thewolg amounts and percentages of company restasadet:

Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012
(Dollars in thousands)
Utilities $ 13,91 42% $ 13,05: 4C% $ 14,35¢ 4.1%
Repairs and maintenance 5,971 1.8% 5,94: 1.8% 6,25¢ 1.8%
Marketing 12,32¢ 3.7% 11,69¢ 3.6% 13,397 3.6%
Legal 83C 0.2% 772 0.2% 682 0.2%
Other direct costs 14,81 4.4% 13,72¢ 4.2% 14,32¢ 4.1%
Other operating expenses $ 47,85¢ 14.2% $ 45,19 13.8% $ 49,02t 13.9%

Franchise Operations

Franchise and license revenue and costs of framelng license revenue were comprised of the fofigw@imounts and percentages of franchis
and license revenue for the periods indicated:

Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012
(Dollars in thousands)
Royalties $ 90,83t 66.(% $ 85,50¢ 63.1% $ 83,77 62.2%
Initial fees 1,89: 1.4% 1,66¢ 1.2% 3,09z 2.3%
Occupancy revenue 44,88: 32.6% 47,08¢ 35.1% 47,78 35.5%
Franchise and license revenue $ 137,61 100.(% $ 134,25¢ 100.C% $ 134,65: 100.(%
Occupancy costs 33,13¢ 24.1% 34,63: 25.&% 35,40! 26.2%
Other direct costs 11,62 8.4% 11,47¢ 8.5% 11,27« 8.4%
Costs of franchise and license revenue $ 44,76 325% $ 46,10¢ 3% $ 46,67t 34.%

Royalties increase d by $5.3 million , or 6.2% 2014 primarily resulting from the additional optang week and a 2.5% increase in domestic
same-store sales, as compared to 2013 . In additiere was a 9 equivalent unit increase in frasethand licensed restaurants, as compared
2013, and an increase in royalties as certaiaueshts moved to our new rate structure. Royahiggased by $1.7 million, or 2.1%, in 2013
primarily resulting from a 24 equivalent unit inaee in franchised and licensed restaurants aréPaidcrease in domestic same-store sales, |
compared to 2012 . The increase in equivalent weftscts the impact of our refranchising progrduwat twas completed at the end of 2012.

Initial fees increase d by $0.2 million , or 13.6% 2014 primarily resulting from an increaselie humber of assignments between
franchisees. Initial fees decreased by $1.4 millamm6.1%, in 2013 primarily resulting from fewesstaurants being opened by or sold to
franchisees compared to the respective prior yeaog. Occupancy revenue decrease d by $2.2 millmm.7% , in 2014 and by $0.7 million,
or 1.5%, in 2013 primarily resulting from lease eapons.

Occupancy costs decrease d by $1.5 million , d¥4.81 2014 and by $0.8 million, or 2.2%, in 20X8warily resulting from lease expirations.
Other direct costs increase d by $0.1 million 1.8% , in 2014 and by $0.2 million, or 1.8%, in 30JAs a result, costs of franchise and lice
revenue decrease d by $1.3 million , or 2.9% (0b4and by $0.6 million, or 1.2%, in 2013 .

Other Operating Costs and Expenses

Other operating costs and expenses such as ganeradministrative expenses and depreciation amdtaation expense relate to both

company and franchise operations.
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General and administrativeexpenses are comprised of the following:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012
(In thousands)

Share-based compensation $ 584¢ $ 4,85. $ 3,49¢
Other general and administrative expenses 53,06: 51,98: 56,81:
Total general and administrative expenses $ 58,900 $ 56,83t $ 60,30"

General and administrative expenses increase @ Hyrfiillion in 2014 primarily resulting from increas of $1.6 million in incentive
compensation, $1.0 million in share-based compemsand the impact of an additional operating weektially offset by a reduction in
deferred compensation of $0.6 million. General adahinistrative expenses decreased by $3.5 milid20iL3 primarily resulting from
reductions in incentive compensation of $2.2 milliprofessional fees of $1.2 million and other gehand administrative expense of $1.8
million, partially offset by an increase in sham@sbd compensation of $1.4 million. The increaseharebased compensation over the past
years are primarily due to the total shareholdirrneperformance of our stock as compared to thatiocompetitor peer group within o
share-based award plans.

Depreciation and amortizationis comprised of the following:
Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012
(In thousands)

Depreciation of property and equipment $ 15,627 $ 15,06: $ 15,81¢
Amortization of capital lease assets 3,53¢ 3,527 3,28:
Amortization of intangible and other assets 2,05¢ 2,91 3,20¢

$ 21,21t $ 21,50 % 22,30«

Total depreciation and amortization expense

The 2013 decrease in depreciation and amortizatipense is due primarily to the sale of compantatgants to franchisees during fiscal
2012.

Operating (gains), losses and other charges, nate comprised of the following:
Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012
(In thousands)

Gains on sales of assets and other, net $ (112) $ (66) $ (7,090
Restructuring charges and exit costs 981 1,38¢ 3,912
Impairment charges 401 5,74¢ 3,66(

Operating (gains), losses and other charges, net ~ $ 127C $ 7,071 $ 48z

The gains recognized during 2012 primarily resglfirom the sale of restaurant operations to freseds and the sale of real estate.
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Restructuring charges and exit costs were compaééte following:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012
(In thousands)

Exit costs $ 33t $ 63C $ 1,92¢
Severance and other restructuring charges 64¢€ 75¢ 1,98¢
Total restructuring and exit costs $ 981 $ 1,38¢ $ 3,912

Severance and other restructuring charges for RB@l2de charges related to the departure of thepemyls former Chief Operating Officer.

Impairment charges for 2014 resulted primarily friiva impairment of an underperforming restauranpdirment charges for 2013 resulted
primarily from the $4.8 million impairment of an derperforming restaurant and the impairment of teégtaurants and real estate identified as
assets held for sale. Impairment charges for 284@lted primarily from the impairment of seven aesants identified as held for sale and the
impairment of an underperforming restaurant.

Operating incomewas $57.3 million in 2014 , $47.5 million in 2018d8$56.4 million in 2012 .
Interest expense, neis comprised of the following:
Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012
(In thousands)

Interest on credit facilities 3,51¢ 4,067 7,072
Interest on capital lease liabilities 3,31¢ 3,70¢ 3,58(
Letters of credit and other fees 1,381 1,391 1,53¢
Interest income (80) (82 (640
Total cash interest 8,13¢ 9,08¢ 11,55
Amortization of deferred financing costs 482 497 775
Amortization of debt discount — — 137
Interest accretion on other liabilities 56C 701 904
9,18: 10,28: 13,36¢

Total interest expense, net

The decrease in interest expense resulted froneraakee in interest rates related to the 2013 maefing of our credit facility, as well as debt
reductions made during the years presented.

Other nonoperating (income) expense, natas income of $0.6 million for 2014 , expense ofi$hillion for 2013 and expense $7.9 million
for 2012 . The income for the 2014 period consigteaharily of $0.5 million of gains on deferred cpemsation plan investments. The expense
for the 2013 period consisted primarily of $1.2lioil in expenses and write-offs of deferred finagccosts incurred related to our 2013 debt
refinancing and $1.0 million of write-offs relatéallease terminations and amendments, partialeotfy $1.1 million of gains on deferred
compensation plan investments. The expense fd2@h2 period consisted primarily of expenses antevaifs of deferred financing costs and
original issue discount incurred related to our2@bt refinancing.

Theprovision for income taxeswas $16.0 million for 2014 , $11.5 million for 2048d $12.8 million for 2012 . For the 2014 periti,
difference in the overall effective rate from theSUstatutory rate was primarily due to state amdifin taxes, the generation of employmen
credits and two discrete tax items. State job tedits of $0.7 million were claimed during 2014 &urrrent year's hiring activity. State job tax
credits of $0.5 million were also claimed during 2014 period resulting from the prior year's lgractivity. In addition, share-based
compensation adjustments resulted in an out-obdedex benefit of $0.5 million. We do not beliete tout-of-period adjustment was material
to any prior or current year financial statememtsroearnings trends.
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For the 2013 period, the difference in the ovestibctive rate from the U.S. statutory rate was tdugtate and foreign taxes, employment tax
credits and discrete tax items. The passage dAitierican Tax Payer Relief Act of 2012 resulted afedired tax benefits of $0.3 million related
to work opportunity credits generated in 2012, ehieere allowed retroactively. In addition, statk jax credits of $0.8 million were claimed
during the 2013 period resulting from the prior y®airing activity. A valuation allowance of $0x@llion was recorded against certain state
jobs tax credits during the 2013 period relatedhanges in California law enacted during the pe:

For the 2012 period, the difference in the oveztfictive tax rate from the U.S. statutory rate w@as to state and foreign taxes and discrete tz
items, including a $1.7 million out-qferiod adjustment related to the reversal of aigodf the income tax benefit recorded in fourtlader o
2011. We do not believe the out-of-period adjustimeas material to any prior or current year finahstatements or on earnings trends. In
addition, a $1.6 million tax benefit was recorde®012 relating to additional state credits gemeraturing 2012 from prior years' activity.

Net incomewas $32.7 million for 2014 , $24.6 million for 2048d $22.3 million for 2012 .

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Summary of Cash Flows

Our primary sources of liquidity and capital resms are cash generated from operations and bogewimder our credit facility (as described
below). Principal uses of cash are operating exgereapital expenditures, debt repayments ancefhechase of shares of our common stock

The following table presents a summary of our sesignd uses of cash and cash equivalents for tlelpéndicated:
Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013
(In thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 7491: $ 57,04:
Net cash used in investing activities (21,289 (16,470
Net cash used in financing activities (53,49) (51,199

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equialent $ 131§ (10,629

We believe that our estimated cash flows from ajmra for 2015 , combined with our capacity for giddal borrowings under our credit
facility, will enable us to meet our anticipategkaequirements and fund capital expenditures theenext twelve months.

Net cash flowsused in investing activities were $21.3 million fbe year ended December 31, 2014 . These cash flmude capital
expenditures of $22.1 million and issuances of sicteeivable of $1.6 million , partially offset bgllections of notes receivable $2.3 million
and $0.1 million in proceeds from asset sales.@incipal capital requirements have been largegoaiated with the following:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013
(In thousands)

Facilities $ 6,15¢ $ 4,961
New construction 187 50¢&
Remodeling 12,18« 8,671
Information technology 787 584
Other 2,764 2,097

$ 22,07¢ $ 16,81¢

Capital expenditures

Capital expenditures for fiscal 2015 are expeocbeokt approximately $23-25 million, including 454#0nodels anticipated to be completed at
company restaurants.
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Cash flows used in financing activities were $58iion for the year ended December 31, 2014 , Whncluded stock repurchases of $36.1
million and a net decrease in long-term debt of. $4iillion.

Our working capital deficit was $24.3 million at @snber 31, 2014 compared with $20.3 million at Dawer 25, 2013 . The increase in
working capital deficit is primarily related to timcrease in incentive and shdrased compensation accruals during the currentperand. We
are able to operate with a substantial workingtehgificit because (1) restaurant operations aost fiood service operations are conducted
primarily on a cash (and cash equivalent) basis wibbw level of accounts receivable, (2) rapichtier allows a limited investment in
inventories and (3) accounts payable for food, keyes and supplies usually become due after tlegptenf cash from the related sales.

Credit Facility

Denny's Corporation and certain of its subsidiahnigge a credit facility comprised of a senior seduerm loan in an original principal amount
of $60 million and a $190 million senior securedalger (with a $30 million letter of credit sublithi As of December 31, 2014 , we had
outstanding term loan borrowings under the creiility of $54.8 million and outstanding lettersavédit under the senior secured revolver of
$25.7 million . There were $85.3 million in revolg loans outstanding at December 31, 2014 . Thalsetes resulted in availability of $79.0
million under the revolving facility. The weightedrerage interest rate under the term loan and tatamaling revolver loans was 2.17% as of
December 31, 2014 .

The revolving credit facility includes an accordi@ature that would allow us to increase the sfzbefacility to $240 million. A commitment
fee of 0.35% is paid on the unused portion of thelving credit facility. Borrowings under the crefécility bear a tiered interest rate basec
the Company's consolidated leverage ratio and miaally set at LIBOR plus 200 basis points. Thetundly date for the credit facility is

April 24, 2018.

The credit facility is guaranteed by the Compang &g material subsidiaries and is secured by smltisily all of the assets of the Company
and its subsidiaries, including the stock of thenPany's subsidiaries. It includes negative covenantl restrictions (including limitation on
additional borrowings, acquisitions, loans to fiaisees, capital expenditures, lease commitmertsk sepurchases and dividend payments)
that are usual for facilities of this type. Theditdacility also includes certain financial covenswith respect to a maximum consolidated
leverage ratio, a minimum consolidated fixed cham@eerage ratio and maximum capital expenditures.

The term loan under the credit facility requiresoatization of the original term loan balance of p& year in the first two years (April 2013
through April 2015), 7.5% in the subsequent tworgdapril 2015 through April 2017) and 10% in th#hf year (April 2017 through April
2018) with the balance due at maturity. We areireguo make certain mandatory prepayments undé&ineircumstances and have the
option to make certain prepayments under the cfadiiity. The credit facility includes events oéfdwult (and related remedies, including
acceleration and increased interest rates follo@mgvent of default) that are usual for facilitiesl transactions of this type.

Interest Rate Hedges

We have entered into interest rate hedges thatheaplBOR rate on borrowings under our credit figilThe 200 basis point LIBOR cap
applied to $125 million of borrowings from April 12013 through April 13, 2014 and applies to $150ion of borrowings from April 14,
2014 through March 31, 2015.

We also have entered into interest rate swapsdgéha portion of the cash flows of our floatingerdebt from March 31, 2015 through March
29, 2018. During the quarter ended December 314,20@& determined that a portion of the underlyiaghcflows related to the swap were no
longer probable of occurring over the term of thieiiest rate swap due to the probability of payiregdebt down below the notional amount.

As a result, we terminated an interest rate swalp avhotional amount of $30 million.

We continue to designate the remaining interestsaiap as a cash flow hedge of our exposure tahility in future cash flows attributable to
payments of LIBOR due on a related $120 millioniovwdl debt obligation from March 31, 2015 throughrgh 29, 2018. Based on our
consolidated leverage ratio in effect as of Decam3lie2014, under the terms of the swap, we wijl @a average fixed rate of 3.13% on the
notional amount and receive payments from a copatgr based on the 30-day LIBOR rate.
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Contractual Obligations

Our future contractual obligations and commitmentt®ecember 31, 2014 consisted of the following:

Payments Due by Period

Less than 1 5 Years and
Total Year 1-2 Years 3-4 Years Thereafter
(In thousands)

Long-term debt $ 140,00 $ 4,128 % 10,12¢ $ 125,75( $ =

Capital lease obligations (a) 32,99: 6,451 10,52¢ 6,70¢ 9,30¢

Operating lease obligations 194,16° 31,90¢ 56,13: 40,52 65,61:

Interest obligations (a) 9,63¢ 3,007 5,72( 907 —
Pension and other defined contribution plan

obligations (b) 224 224 — — —

Purchase obligations (c) 205,62: 185,04! 20,577 — —

Total $ 582,64( $ 230,75¢ $ 103,08: $ 173,88t $ 74,91°

(a) Interest obligations represent payments relatexditdong-term debt outstanding at December 31, 204t long-term debt with
variable rates, we have used the rate applicalideae¢mber 31, 2014 to project interest over thegempresented in the table
above. The capital lease obligation amounts abménalusive of interest.

(b) Pension and other defined contribution plan obiiges are estimates based on facts and circumstah&@ecember 31, 2014 .
Amounts cannot currently be estimated for more thamyear. This amount does not consider the pthterenination of the
Advantica Pension Plan. During fiscal 2015 or e20y6, we will be required to make contribution®tw qualified pension plan
as a result of the planned termination. We curyezgtimate that these contributions will be betw®&million to $8 million. This
estimate is based on expected interest ratesnsetur plan assets and participant elections.

(c) Purchase obligations include amounts payable ymgehase contracts for food and non-food prodidéy of these agreements
do not obligate us to purchase any specific voluamekinclude provisions that would allow us to @rstich agreements with
appropriate notice. For agreements with cancetigtimvisions, amounts included in the table abepeasent our estimate of
purchase obligations during the periods preseritwd iwere to cancel these contracts with appropriatice.

Unrecognized tax benefits associated with unceitaiome tax positions are not included in the ceitral obligations table as these liabilities
may increase or decrease over time as a resak@aminations, and given the status of the exatiims, we cannot reliably estimate the
period of any cash settlement with the respectixegy authorities. At December 31, 2014 , thereewsr unrecognized tax benefits associatec
with uncertain income tax positions, including pdial interest and penalties.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Except for operating leases entered into the noomalse of business, we do not have any off balaheet arrangements.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caaditind results of operations are based upon ons@iolated Financial Statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with U.S. geperadepted accounting principles. The preparatfdhese financial statements requires us
to make estimates and judgments that affect thertegh amounts of assets, liabilities, revenuesexpenses, and related disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoirgiyave evaluate our estimates, including thossed|to self-insurance liabilities, impairment
of long-lived assets, restructuring and exit castspme taxes and share-based compensation. Webasstimates on historical experience
and on various other assumptions that we beliebe teeasonable under the circumstances, the reduitisich form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assetsiahilities that are not readily apparent from otheurces. Actual results may differ from th
estimates under different assumptions or conditibagever, we believe that our estimates, includivagge for the above-described items, are
reasonable.
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Our significant accounting policies (including ttrétical accounting policies listed below) are judlescribed in Note 2 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements. We believe the followingicaitaccounting policies affect our more significardgments and estimates used in the
preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statesient

Self-insurance liabilitieswe are self-insured for a portion of our losseatezl to certain medical plans, workezsmpensation, general/prod
liability and automobile insurance liability. Intesating these liabilities, we utilize independawtuarial estimates of expected losses, whic
based on statistical analysis of historical data. €stimates of expected losses are adjusted iovetiased on changes to the actual costs of tl
underlying claims, which could result in additioeabense or reversal of expense previously recorded

Impairment of lon-lived assets We evaluate our long-lived assets for impairnarhe restaurant level on a quarterly basis, vdssets are
identified as held for sale or whenever changessents indicate that the carrying value may natelseverable. For assets identified as helc
sale, we use the market approach and considergasdeom similar asset sales. We assess impairofieastaurant-level assets based on the
operating cash flows of the restaurant, expectedgads from the sale of assets and our plansstaurant closings. Generally, all restaurants
with negative cash flows from operations for thestrecent twelve months at each quarter end aheded in our assessment. For
underperforming assets, we use the income apptoatétermine both the recoverability and estimé@édvalue of the assets. To estimate
future cash flows we make certain assumptions aéxquetcted future operating performance, such anteygrowth, operating margins, risk-
adjusted discount rates, and future economic anttenaonditions. If the long-lived assets of a aesant are not recoverable based upon
estimated future, undiscounted cash flows, we wiigeassets down to their fair value. If thesenesties or their related assumptions change in
the future, we may be required to record additiam@lairment charges.

Restructuring and exit cosiDiscounted liabilities for future lease costs afseld restaurants, net of the fair value of relatddeases, are
recorded when the restaurants are closed. All atbgts related to closed restaurants are expessedwared. In assessing the discounted
liabilities for future costs of obligations relatexiclosed restaurants, we make assumptions reggadnounts of future subleases.

The most significant estimates included in our aedrexit costs liabilities relates to the timinglaamount of estimated subleases. If any of the
estimates or their related assumptions changeeifutiire, we may be required to record addition@laosts or reduce exit costs previously
recorded.

Income taxesWe make certain estimates and judgments in thelledion of our provision for income taxes, in tiesulting tax liabilities, and

in the recoverability of deferred tax assets. Ware valuation allowances against our deferredatssets, when necessary. Realization of
deferred tax assets is dependent on future taxaiiengs and is therefore uncertain. We assedik#fibood that our deferred tax assets in
each of the jurisdictions in which we operate Wwél recovered from future taxable income. Defereadassets do not include future tax benefit
that we deem likely not to be realized.

Share-based compensati®@hare-based compensation is estimated for equitlydsaat fair value at the grant date. The fair eafirestricted
stock units containing a market condition is deiead using the Monte Carlo valuation method, whitihizes multiple input variables to
determine the probability of the Company achievimgmarket condition. Changes in the subjectiveragsions can materially affect the
estimate of the fair value of share-based compEmsanhd consequently, the related amount recogrnizédte Consolidated Statements of
Income.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See the Accounting Standards to be Adopted seofidlote 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statemerntiided in Part I, Item 8 of this report
for further details of recent accounting pronouneats.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MakRisk
Interest Rate Risk
We have exposure to interest rate risk relateetaim instruments entered into for other thanitrggurposes. Specifically, as BEcember 3:

2014 , borrowings under our credit facility boréeirest at variable rates based on LIBOR plus aaspoé 200 basis points per annum. Through
March 31, 2015, up to $150 million of the borrowsngnder our credit facility has a 200 basis poiBQ@R point cap.
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On March 31, 2015, our interest rate swap withtonal amount of $120 million goes into effect. Bdn our consolidated leverage ratio in
effect as of December 31, 2014, under the terntiseo$wap, we will pay an average fixed rate of 3k the notional amount and receive
payments from a counterparty based on the 30-dBQ®RI rate, which will mitigate a portion of our exquwe to variability in future cash flows
attributes to payments of LIBOR.

Based on the levels of borrowings under the crfiaditity at December 31, 2014 , if interest ratbamged by 100 basis points, our annual cash
flow and income before taxes would change by apprately $0.5 million. This computation is determdnigy considering the impact of
hypothetical interest rates on the credit facititypecember 31, 2014 , taking into considerati@nittiterest rate cap and interest rate

swap. However, the nature and amount of our borrgsvimay vary as a result of future business reougirés, market conditions and other
factors.

We also have exposure to interest rate risk rel@tedir pension plan, other defined benefit plamd self-insurance liabilities. A 25 basis point
increase or decrease in discount rate would inereadecrease our projected benefit obligatiortedléo our pension plan by

approximately $2.5 million and would impact the gien plan's net periodic benefit cost by approxehe$0.1 million. The impact of a 25
basis point increase or decrease in discount ratédrdecrease or increase, respectively, our piexjdeenefit obligation related to our other
defined benefit plans by less than $0.1 millionle/tihe plans' net periodic benefit cost would remfhit. A 25 basis point increase or decrease
in discount rate related to our self-insuranceilités would result in a decrease or increase@23nillion, respectively.

Commodity Price Risk

We purchase certain food products, such as beekrpopork, eggs and coffee, and utilities suclyas and electricity, which are affected by
commodity pricing and are, therefore, subject fogvolatility caused by weather, production proie delivery difficulties and other factors
that are outside our control and which are genetadpredictable. Changes in commaodity prices affischind our competitors generally and
often simultaneously. In general, we purchase foodiucts and utilities based upon market pricesbdished with vendors. Although many of
the items purchased are subject to changes in cdityrices, the majority of our purchasing arramgats are structured to contain features
that minimize price volatility by establishing fidgricing and/or price ceilings and floors. We tlsese types of purchase arrangements to
control costs as an alternative to using finanaistruments to hedge commaodity prices. In manys;ase believe we will be able to address
commodity cost increases which are significant @amgear to be long-term in nature by adjusting oenunpricing or changing our product
delivery strategy. However, competitive circumstscould limit such actions and, in those circumsa, increases in commaodity prices ci
lower our margins. Because of the often short-teature of commaodity pricing aberrations and oulitgttio change menu pricing or product
delivery strategies in response to commodity pirnceeases, we believe that the impact of commaatitge risk is not significant.

We have established a process to identify, comaimdlmanage market risks which may arise from chaimgmterest rates, commaodity prices
and other relevant rates and prices. We do notleseative instruments for trading purposes.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

See Index to Financial Statements which appeapaga F-1 herein.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcédenting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

A. Disclosure Controls and Procedur. As required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Securiiechange Act of 1934, as amended, (techang:
Act”) our management conducted an evaluation (uttteesupervision and with the participation of Buesident and Chief Executive Officer,
John C. Miller, and our Executive Vice Presiderttig€ Administrative Officer and Chief Financial @fér, F. Mark Wolfinger) as of the end of
the period covered by this Annual Report on ForrK10f the effectiveness of our disclosure contanisl procedures as defined in Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d:5(e) under the Exchange Act. Based on that evalydflessrs. Miller and Wolfinger each concludealttbur disclosure contrc
and procedures are effective to provide reasoragdarance that information required to be disclaséide reports that we file or submit under
the Exchange Act, (i) is recorded, processed, suimethand reported within the time periods spedifiethe Securities and Exchange
Commission’s rules and forms and (ii) is accumulated communicated to our management, includingskdéesiller and Wolfinger, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regardinguiegd disclosure.
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B. Managemer's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repag. Our management is responsible for establishimgnaaintaining
adequate internal control over financial reportiag such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules1#-and 15d-15(f). Our internal control
system is designed to provide reasonable assutammee management and Board of Directors regarttiegeliability of financial reporting
and the preparation and fair presentation of firdrstatements for external purposes in accordaittegenerally accepted accounting
principles. Because of its inherent limitationgemal control over financial reporting may noty®et or detect misstatements. Also, project
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future pesiade subject to the risk that controls may beciomeéequate because of changes in condit
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

Management has assessed the effectiveness ofteurahcontrol over financial reporting as of Det®mn31, 2014 . Management's assessmer
was based on criteria set forthliternal Control - Integrated Framework (1992issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinataf the
Treadway Commission (COSO). Based upon this assgtsmanagement concluded that, as of Decemb&034, , our internal control over
financial reporting was effective, based upon thogeria.

The Company'’s independent registered public ac@ogifirm, KPMG LLP, has issued an attestation réporour internal control over
financial reporting, which follows this report.

C. Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Refirmg . There have been no changes in our internal doowey financial reporting identifie
in connection with the evaluation required by Rla-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred duodinglast fiscal quarter (our fourth fiscal
quarter) that have materially affected, or arearably likely to materially affect, our internalrool over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors
Denny's Corporation

We have audited Denny’s Corporation’s (the Compamygrnal control over financial reporting as ofd@enber 31, 2014 , based on criteria
established ifnternal Control - Integrated Framework (1998yued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafriee Treadway
Commission (COSO)The Company's management is responsible for maintpeffective internal control over financial repiog and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting, included in the accomyag Management’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting (Item 9A.). Ouspensibility is to express an opinion on the Conypaimternal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtagsonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal coraxe@r financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing aald&ing the design and operating effectivenesstefnal control based on the assessed risk.
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestave believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial repogtis a process designed to provide reasonableaasuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company's internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsafdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasaabsurance regarding prevention or timely detecfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Denny’s Corporation maintainedalhmaterial respects, effective internal contreéofinancial reporting as of December 31,
2014 , based on criteria establishedhirernal Control - Integrated Framework (1998sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidns
the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Denny’s Corporation and subgdias of December 31, 2014 and December 25, 2@ the related consolidated
statements of income, comprehensive income, shiaerisbequity, and cash flows for each of the fisears in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2014 , and our report dated Marc2@B5 expressed an unqualified opinion on those congeliiinancial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Greenville, South Carolina
March 13, 2015
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govence

Information required by this item with respect o @xecutive officers and directors; complianceoby directors, executive officers and certair
beneficial owners of our Common Stock with Sectiéifa) of the Exchange Act; the committees of ouafmf Directors; our Audit
Committee Financial Expert; and our Code of Etiédsirnished by incorporation by reference to infation under the captions entitled
"General-Equity Security Ownership", “Election oir€ctors”, "Executive Compensation”, “Section 1@8@neficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance”, "Related Party Transactions" and "CoidEthics" in the proxy statement (to be filedduater) in connection with Denny’s
Corporation's 2015 Annual Meeting of the Sharehald#he "proxy statement") and possibly elsewherhé proxy statement (or will be filed
by amendment to this report). Additional informati@quired by this item related to our executiviicefs appears in Item 1 of Part | of this
report under the caption “Executive Officers of Registrant.”

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is furnish®dincorporation by reference to information untter captions entitled “Executive
Compensation” and "Election of Directors" in thexy statement and possibly elsewhere in the préatgsent (or will be filed by amendment
to this report).

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners ahnagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is furnish®dincorporation by reference to information unttex caption “General—Equity Security
Ownership” in the proxy statement and possiblywlsse in the proxy statement (or will be filed byendment to this report).

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, adaector Independence

The information required by this item is furnish®dincorporation by reference to information untlex captions “Related Party Transactions”
and "Election of Directors" in the proxy statemantl possibly elsewhere in the proxy statement {ibbe filed by amendment to this report).

ltem 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item is furnish®dincorporation by reference to information untter caption entitled “Selection of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm'hi@ proxy statement and possibly elsewhere in theypstatement (or will be filed by
amendment to this report).

PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(2)(1) Financial StatementsSee the Index to Financial Statements which appeapage F-1 hereof.

(8)(2) Financial Statement Schedul@$o schedules are filed herewith because of thenglesef conditions under which they are required or
because the information called for is in our Coisded Financial Statements or notes thereto appealsewhere herein.

(2)(3) Exhibits: Certain of the exhibits to this Report, indicatgdam asterisk, are hereby incorporated by referéooe other documents on
file with the Commission with which they are elextically filed, to be a part hereof as of theimpestive dates.

34




Exhibit No.

*3.1

*3.2

+*10.1

+*10.2

+*10.3

+*10.4

+*10.5

*10.6

*10.7

*10.8

*10.9

Description

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of DgisnCorporation dated March 3, 2003, as amende@drijficate of Amendment to
Restated Certificate of Incorporation to Increasgh@rized Capitalization dated August 25, 2004dmporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K ofribg's Corporation for the year ended December @94

By-Laws of Denny's Corporation, as effectasof May 23, 2013 (incorporated by reference thiltik3.1 to Current Report
on Form 8-K of Denny's Corporation filed with ther@mission on June 7, 2013).

Form of stock option agreement to be usetku the Denny's Corporation 2004 Omnibus IncerRiam (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Registration Steget on Form S-8 of Denny's Corporation (File N83-320093) filed with
the Commission on October 29, 2004).

Form of deferred stock unit award certifecto be used under the Denny's Corporation 2004im Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 toAmmual Report on Form 10-K of Denny's Corporationthe year ended
December 29, 2004).

Employment Offer Letter dated August 1602®etween Denny's Corporation and F. Mark Wolfin@eorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly ReporForm 10-Q of Denny's Corporation for the quaeteded September 28,
2005).

Employment Offer Letter dated July 19, 2@Edween Denny's Corporation and Frances L. Alleco¢porated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10{f@enny's Corporation for the quarter ended Sep&zr2b, 2010).

Employment Offer Letter dated January 6, 2Between Denny's Corporation and John C. Miltexarporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 104@enny's Corporation for the quarter ended Mar@h2®11).

Credit Agreement dated as of April 12, 2@h2ong Denny's, Inc., as the Borrower, Denny's Qattjm, as Parent, and Certain
Subsidiaries of Parent, as Guarantors, Wells FBagik, National Association, as Administrative Agantd L/C Issuer,

Regions Bank and General Electric Capital Corponatas Co-Syndication Agents, Cadence Bank and ®B&ns, N.A., as
Co-Documentation Agents, the other lenders pasdyetio, and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, Regionsit@hplarkets, a

Division of Regions Bank, and GE Capital Markets;.] as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrun(iecerporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly ReporForm 10-Q of Denny's Corporation for the quaeteded March 28, 2012).

Guarantee and Collateral Agreement dateaf April 12, 2012 among Denny's, Inc., Denny's RedlLC, Denny's
Corporation, DFO, LLC, the other subsidiaries ofdPéfrom time to time party thereto and Wells eaBank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent (incorporated by referencdtdnibit 10.4 to the Quarterly Report on Form 104@enny's Corporation
for the quarter ended March 28, 2012).

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dageaf April 24, 2013 among Denny's, Inc., as ther®weer, Denny's
Corporation, as Parent, and Certain Subsidiari®aoént, as Guarantors, Wells Fargo Bank, Natideabciation, as
Administrative Agent and L/C Issuer, Regions Banll &eneral Electric Capital Corporation, as Co-$gattibn Agents,
Cadence Bank N.A., Fifth Third Bank and RBS CitizeN.A., as Co-Documentation Agents, and the dthaters party
thereto, and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, Regioapi@l Markets and GE Capital Markets, Inc., astloead Arrangers and
Joint Bookrunners (incorporated by reference toilikh0.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q @fridy's Corporation for
the quarter ended March 27, 2013).

Amended and Restated Guarantee and Coll&graement dated as of April 24, 2013 among Degyriyic., Denny's Realty,
LLC, Denny's Corporation, DFO, LLC, the other Sulieiies of Parent from time to time party theretod Wells Fargo Bank,
N.A., as Administrative Agent (incorporated by refiece to Exhibit 10.4 to the Quarterly Report onnFd0-Q of Denny's
Corporation for the quarter ended March 27, 2013).
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Exhibit No.

*10.10

+*10.11

+*10.12

+*10.13

+*10.14

+*10.15

+*10.16

+*10.17

+*10.18

+*10.19

+*10.20

+*10.21

+*10.22

Description

First Amendment to Amended and RestatediCAgreement dated as of October 14, 2014 amonms, Inc., as the
Borrower, Denny's Corporation, as Parent, and @e8absidiaries of Parent, as Guarantors, Wellgé-8ank, National
Association, as Administrative Agent and L/C Issw@erd the Lenders (incorporated by reference tatiixth0.1 to the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Denny's Corporafar the quarter ended September 24, 2014).

Denny's Corporation Amended and Restatetiive and Key Employee Severance Pay Plan (dcated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 104@enny's Corporation for the quarter ended Sepg&rab, 2013).

Denny's Corporation 2012 Omnibus IncenBlan (incorporated by reference to Appendix Ahef Definitive Proxy Statement
of Denny's Corporation filed with the CommissionAypril 5, 2012).

Denny's Corporation 2008 Omnibus Incenian (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1h® Current Report on Form 8-
K of Denny's Corporation filed with the Commissiom May 27, 2008).

Amendment to the Denny's Corporation 2008nibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by referencExhibit 10.3 to the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Denny's Corporafmr the quarter ended April 1, 2009).

Denny's Corporation Amended and Resta®®d Dmnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by refeesio Exhibit 10.2 to the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Denny's Corporafmr the quarter ended June 25, 2008).

Form of the 2011 Long-Term Performanceshtive Program Performance Shares and Target CagbrtDnity Award
Certificate (incorporated by reference to ExhilfitIlto the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Den@gdsporation for the
quarter ended March 30, 2011).

Written Description of the Denny's 2011ngeTerm Performance Incentive Program (incorporaieteference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Denny'spgbaation for the quarter ended March 30, 2011).

Form of the 2012 Long-Term Performanceshtive Program Performance Shares and Target GagbrtDnity Award
Certificate (incorporated by reference to ExhilfitIlto the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Den@gdsporation for the
quarter ended March 28, 2012).

Written Description of the Denny's 2012nigeTerm Performance Incentive Program (incorporateteference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Denny'spgbaation for the quarter ended March 28, 2012).

Form of the 2013 Long-Term Performanceeiitve Program Performance Shares and Target Cagbrtdnity Award
Certificate (incorporated by reference to ExhilfitIlto the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Den@dsporation for the
quarter ended March 27, 2013).

Written Description of the Denny's 2013nigeTerm Performance Incentive Program (incorporateceference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Denny'sgbaaition for the quarter ended March 27, 2013).

Form of the 2014 Long-Term Performanceefiitve Program Performance Shares and Target Cagbrtdnity Award
Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhilfit1to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Den®@gdsporation for the
quarter ended March 26, 2014).
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Exhibit No.

+*10.23

+*10.24

+*10.25

+*10.26

+10.27

21.1

23.1

31.1

31.2

32.1

101.INS?

101.SCH”

101.CAL"

101.LAB”

101.PRE"

101.DEF”

Description

Written Description of the Denny's 2014nigeTerm Performance Incentive Program (incorporateteference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Denny'sgbaaition for the quarter ended March 26, 2014).

Form of Stock Option Award Agreement (irparated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the AdmRegport on Form 10-K of
Denny's Corporation for the year ended Decembe2@%90).

Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stdwik Award Certificate (incorporated by refereroeExhibit 10.29 to the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of Denny's Corporation for yle@ar ended December 29, 2010).

Denny's Corporate Incentive Plan (incogted by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Annugbdeon Form 10-K of Denny's
Corporation for the year ended December 30, 2009).

Form of deferred stock unit award certiic@ be used under the Denny's Corporation 2018ifm Incentive Plan.
Subsidiaries of Denny's.
Consent of KPMG LLP.

Certification of John C. Miller, Presidentadhief Executive Officer of Denny’s Corporatiomrpuant to Rule 13a-14(a), as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanesy@dt of 2002.

Certification of F. Mark Wolfinger, Executi%8ce President, Chief Administrative Officer anti€f Financial Officer of
Denny’s Corporation, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(apdmpted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanéesy@xt of 2002.

Statement of John C. Miller, President antfdxecutive Officer of Denny’s Corporation, and\fark Wolfinger, Executive
Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer andi€fiFinancial Officer of Denny Corporation, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaBas-Oxley Act of 2002.

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Lirdde Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbaseddonent

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation hage Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition LinkdenDocument

Denotes management contracts or compensatang ptaarrangements.

In accordance with Regulation S-T, the XBRL-tethinformation in Exhibit 101 to this Annual Repon Form 10-K shall be
deemed "furnished" and not "filed."
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors
Denny's Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Denny’s Corporation and subsidiasesf ®ecember 31, 2014 and
December 25, 2013 , and the related consolidagemsents of income, comprehensive income, sharet®khuity, and cash flows for each
the fiscal years in the three-year period endecebser 31, 2014 . These consolidated financialistames are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to egpran opinion on these consolidated financiastants based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenewnilhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteereferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of Denny’s
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 314 20 December 25, 2013, and the results of tparations and their cash flows for each
of the fiscal years in the three-year period erdedember 31, 2014 , in conformity with U.S. genlgratcepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Bawer 31, 2014 , based on criteria establishéatémnal Control—Integrated Framework
(1992)issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission (COSO), and our regated March 13, 2015
expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectigsrd the Company's internal control over finangéglorting.

/s KPMG LLP
Greenville, South Carolina
March 13, 2015




Assets
Current assets:

Denny’s Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2014

December 25, 2013

(In thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,072 $ 2,94:
Receivables 18,05¢ 17,32:
Inventories 2,952 2,881
Current deferred tax asset 24,31( 23,26¢
Prepaid and other current assets 7,67¢ 7,415
Total current assets 56,07 53,82¢
Property 109,77 105,62(
Goodwill 31,45 31,45:
Intangible assets, net 46,27¢ 47,92t
Deferred financing costs, net 1,61« 2,097
Noncurrent deferred tax asset 19,25: 28,29(
Other noncurrent assets 25,41 26,56¢
Total assets $ 289,85¢ $ 295,77
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term debt $ 4,128  $ 3,00(
Current maturities of capital lease obligations 3,60¢ 4,15(
Accounts payable 13,25( 14,23°
Other current liabilities 59,43: 52,69¢
Total current liabilities 80,41¢ 74,08t
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt, less current maturities 135,87! 150,00(
Capital lease obligations, less current maturities 15,20« 15,92
Liability for insurance claims, less current pontio 18,00¢ 18,24¢
Other noncurrent liabilities and deferred credits 38,77¢ 29,08
Total long-term liabilities 207,85¢ 213,26:
Total liabilities 288,27! 287,34t
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders' equity
Common stock $0.01 par value; shares authoriZ&5;000; December 31, 2014: 105,818 shares i
and 84,707 shares outstanding; December 25, 2063014 shares issued and 89,232 shares
outstanding; 1,05¢ 1,05(
Paid-in capital 571,67: 567,50!
Deficit (438,22) (470,941)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax (24,60:) (16,849
Shareholders’ equity before treasury stock 109,90¢ 80,767
Treasury stock, at cost, 21,111 and 15,782 shasgectively (108,32¢) (72,336
Total shareholders' equity 1,58: 8,431
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 289,85t $ 295,77

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.
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Revenue:
Company restaurant sales
Franchise and license revenue
Total operating revenue
Costs of company restaurant sales:
Product costs
Payroll and benefits
Occupancy
Other operating expenses
Total costs of company restaurant sales
Costs of franchise and license revenue
General and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Operating (gains), losses and other charges, net
Total operating costs and expenses, net
Operating income
Interest expense, net
Other nonoperating (income) expense, net
Net income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

Basic net income per share
Diluted net income per share

Basic weighted average shares outstanding

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding

Denny’s Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income

Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, 2014

December 25, 2013

December 26, 2012

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

$ 334,68 328,33 353,71
137,61 134,25¢ 134,65:

472,29 462,59: 488,36:

86,82 85,54( 88,47

133,28 131,30! 141,30:

20,84t 21,51¢ 23,408

47 85¢ 45,19; 49,02

288,80t 283,55 302,20

44,76 46,10¢ 46,67

58,907 56,83 60,30’

21,21¢ 21,50 22,30«

1,27¢ 7,071 482

414,96 415,07 431,97

57,33 47 52: 56,38¢

9,18z 10,28: 13,36¢

(612) 1,13¢ 7,92¢

48,76 36,10( 35,00«

16,03¢ 11,52¢ 12,78

$ 32,72 24,57. 22,30¢
$ 0.3¢ 0.27 0.2¢
$ 0.37 0.2€ 0.2¢
86,32: 90,82¢ 94,94¢

88,35¢ 92,90 96,75«

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.




Denny’s Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012
(In thousands)
Net income $ 32,72 $ 2457 % 22,30¢
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:
Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of tae(iefit) expense of

$(4,019), $4,164 and $(191) (6,309 6,30¢ (18¢)
Recognition of unrealized (loss) gain on hedges@ation, net of tax
(benefit) expense of $(933) and $1,184 (1,45¢) 1,84¢ —
Other comprehensive (loss) income (7,760) 8,157 (18€)
Total comprehensive income $ 24,96 $ 32,72¢ $ 22,12

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.




Denny’s Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Accumulated Total
Other Shareholders’
Common Stock Treasury Stock Paid-in Comprehensive Equity /
Shares Amount Shares  Amount Capital (Deficit) Loss, Net (Deficit)
(In thousands)
Balance, December 28, 2011 102,66¢ $ 1,027 (6,69€) $ (25,459 $557,39¢ $(517,82) $ (24,819 $ (9,676
Net income — — — — — 22,30¢ — 22,30¢
Other comprehensive loss — — — — — — (186€) (18€)
Share-based compensation on equity classified
awards — — — — 2,08 — — 2,08:
Purchase of treasury stock — — (4,839 (22,179 — — — (22,179
Issuance of common stock for share-based
compensation 258 3 — — 3) — — —
Exercise of common stock options 843 8 — — 2,17z — — 2,18(
Tax benefit from share-based compensation — — — — 1,01C — — 1,01(
Balance, December 26, 2012 103,76« 1,03t (11,539 (47,63) 562,65 (495,51 (24,999 (4,460
Net income — — — — — 24,57 — 24,57
Other comprehensive income — — — — — — 8,157 8,157
Share-based compensation on equity classified
awards — — — — 2,292 — — 2,29:
Purchase of treasury stock — — (4,247 (24,699 — — — (24,699
Issuance of common stock for share-based
compensation 351 3 — — 3) — — —
Exercise of common stock options 89¢ 9 — — 2,94¢ — — 2,95k
Tax expense from share-based compensation — — — — (387) — — (387)
Balance, December 25, 2013 105,01« 1,05C (15,787 (72,33¢)  567,50! (470,94¢) (16,849 8,431
Net income — — — — — 32,72t — 32,72t
Other comprehensive loss — — — — — — (7,760 (7,760
Share-based compensation on equity classified
awards — — — — 2,34¢ — — 2,34
Purchase of treasury stock — — (5,329 (35,990 — — — (35,99()
Issuance of common stock for share-based
compensation 151 1 — — (@) — — —
Exercise of common stock options 652 7 — — 2,162 — — 2,16¢
Tax expense from share-based compensation — — — — (337) — — (337)
Balance, December 31, 2014 105,81t $ 1,05¢ (21,11} $(108,32() $571,67: $(438,22) $ (24,607 $ 1,58¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.




Denny’s Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash floves/jgled by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Operating (gains), losses and other charges, net
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Amortization of debt discount
(Gain) loss on early extinguishments of debt
(Gain) loss on interest rate hedges
Deferred income tax expense
Reversal of tax valuation allowance
Share-based compensation
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in assets:
Receivables
Inventories
Other current assets
Other assets
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued salaries and vacations
Accrued taxes
Other accrued liabilities
Other noncurrent liabilities and deferred credits
Net cash flows provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Acquisition of restaurants and real estate
Proceeds from disposition of property
Collections on notes receivable
Issuance of notes receivable
Net cash flows used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Revolver borrowings
Revolver payments
Term loan borrowings
Long-term debt payments
Debt transaction costs
Deferred financing costs
Purchase of treasury stock
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Tax withholding on share-based payments
Tax (expense) benefit for share-based compensation
Net bank overdrafts
Net cash flows used in financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, 2014

December 25, 2013

December 26, 2012

(In thousands)

32,72t 24,57; 22,30¢
21,21¢ 21,501 22,30
1,27¢ 7,071 482
482 497 775
— — 137
(33 2,22¢ 8,29(
(12) 42 61
13,21¢ 9,10( 11,42:
(270) (420) (661)
5,84¢ 4,85; 3,49€
(1,119 11€ (1,740
(€ 9 548
(259) 984 2,82(
(2,119 (2,110 (3,172
1,561 (5,520) (1,217
2,64¢ (2,545) 2,27¢
871 101 (747)
114 (746) (4,420)
(1,159 (2,68¢) (3,769
74,91 57,04: 59,20
(22,076 (16,81 (14,16
= (3,980) (1,427)
64 1,582 15,55¢
2,28¢ 4,77¢ 1,97¢
(1,566) (2,039 (5,440)
(21,289 (16,470 (3,501)
32,20 124,20( =
(42,200 (28,95() —
= 60,00 190,001
(7,237) (176,729 (222,74)
— (366) (1,097)
_ (1,379 (1,809
(36,05¢) (25,039 (21,61%)
2,16¢ 2,95¢ 2,18(
(419 (796) (327)
(337) (387) 1,01¢
(1,609) (4,708) (1,476)
(53,497 (51,199 (55,87¢)
131 (10,627) (a75)
2,94¢ 13,56¢ 13,74(



Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 3,074 $ 2,94:  $ 13,56¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#stents.

F-7




Denny’s Corporation and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1.  Introduction and Basis of Reporting

Denny’s Corporation, or Denny'’s, is one of Amergckdrgest franchised full-service restaurant cheased on number of restaurants. Denny’s
restaurants are operated in all 50 states, thei®@isef Columbia, two U.S. territories and ninedn countries with principal concentrations in
California ( 24% of total restaurants), Texas ( 11&hd Florida ( 8% ).

At December 31, 2014 , the Denny's brand consisftdd702 restaurants, 1,541 of which were franailgeensed restaurants and 161 of which
were company operated.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Polies
The following accounting policies significantly atft the preparation of our Consolidated Finandiate®nents:

Use of Estimatesin preparing our Consolidated Financial Statement®nformity with U.S. generally accepted accongtprinciples,
management is required to make certain assumpgiothestimates that affect reported amounts of gddiilities, revenues, expenses and the
disclosure of contingencies. In making these assiompand estimates, management may from timerte sieek advice and consider
information provided by actuaries and other expierts particular area. Actual amounts could diffexterially from these estimates.

Consolidation Policy. Our Consolidated Financial Statements include itrential statements of Denny’s Corporation anavitelly-owned
subsidiaries: Denng, Inc., DFO, LLC and Denny's Realty, LLC. All sificant intercompany balances and transactions baea eliminated
consolidation.

Fiscal Year. Our fiscal year ends on the last Wednesday in Dbeemi\s a result, a fifty-third week is added tfisaal year every five or six
years. Fiscal 2014 included 53 weeks of operatimhgreas 2013 and 2012 each included 52 weeksenatipns.

ReclassificationsThe prior year proceeds and repayments of the vingptredit facility have been reclassified in tbensolidated Statement
of Cash Flows to conform to the current gross baigisentation.

Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investment®ur policy is to invest cash in excess of operataguirements in short-term highly liquid
investments with an original maturity of three ntmor less, which we consider to be cash equival€dsh and cash equivalents include
short-term investments of $5.0 million and $5.3lignl at December 31, 2014 and December 25, 20&8pectively.

ReceivablesReceivables, which are recorded at net realizadligey primarily consist of trade accounts receigalzind financing receivables
from franchisees (together “franchisee receivablegndor receivables and credit card receivablesdéeleecounts receivables from franchit
consist of royalties, advertising and rent. Finagaieceivables from franchisees primarily consistaies from franchisees related to the roll-
out of new POS equipment. We accrue interest oasnatceivable based on the contractual terms. lfdwaance for doubtful accounts is based
on pre-defined criteria and management’s judgmeéaekisting receivables. Receivables that are ultifyadeemed to be uncollectible, and for
which collection efforts have been exhausted, aitem off against the allowance for doubtful acotsu

Inventories. Inventories consist of food and beverages and @wesd primarily at the lower of average cost (firstfirst-out) or market.

Property and Depreciatior Owned property is stated at cost. Property undeitaldeases is stated at the lesser of its fdirevar the net
present value of the related minimum lease paynaritse lease inception. Maintenance and repairexgvensed as incurred. We depreciate
owned property over its estimated useful life usimg straightine method. We amortize property held under chjgtses (at capitalized valt
over the lesser of its estimated useful life orittigal lease term. In certain situations, oner@re option periods may be used in determining
the depreciable life of certain leasehold improvets@inder operating lease agreements, if we deatratheconomic penalty will be incurred
and exercise of such option periods is reasonadyrad. In either circumstance, our policy requigase term consistency when calculating
depreciation period, in classifying the lease andamputing rent expense. Building assets are magigstimated useful lives that range from
five
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to 30 years. Equipment assets are assigned limesahge from two to ten years. Leasehold improvésare generally assigned lives betweer
five and 15 years limited by the expected leasa.ter

Goodwill. Amounts recorded as goodwill primarily represerdess reorganization value recognized as a resoliro998 bankruptcy. We
record goodwill in connection with the acquisitiohrestaurants from franchisees. Likewise, uporstile of restaurant operations to
franchisees, goodwill is decremented. We test gdbftw impairment at each fiscal year end, and enfsequently if circumstances indicate
impairment may exist. Such indicators include, dmet not limited to, a significant decline in oupexted future cash flows; a significant
adverse decline in our stock price; significantlyerse legal developments; and a significant chamt®ee business climate.

Other Intangible AssetsOther intangible assets consist primarily of tradees, franchise and license agreements, and iestépanchise
rights. Trade names are considered indefinite-limahgible assets and are not amortized. Franelmddicense agreements and reacquired
franchise rights are amortized using the straigtg-basis over the term of the related agreemeattéat trade name assets for impairment at
each fiscal year end, and more frequently if cirstamces indicate impairment may exist. We assgsaiiment of franchise and license
agreements and reacquired franchise rights whermdnagrges or events indicate that the carrying viadag not be recoverable. Costs incurred
to renew or extend the term of recognized intamgésisets are recorded in general and administetjwenses in our Consolidated Statements
of Income.

Long-term Investments.Long-term investments include nonqualified deferwethpensation plan assets held in a rabbi trush Bian
participant's account is comprised of their conttitn, our matching contribution and each partinifsashare of earnings or losses in the plan.
The investments of the rabbi trust include debteoaity mutual funds. They are considered tradeaysties and are reported at fair value in
other noncurrent assets with an offsetting liapilitcluded in other noncurrent liabilities and dedéel credits in our Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The realized and unrealized holding gaiddasses related to the investments are recordether income (expense) with an offsetting
amount recorded in general and administrative esgerelated to the liability in our Consolidatedt8inents of Income. During 2014 , 2013
and 2012 , we incurred net gains of $0.5 milli&1.1 million and $0.7 million , respectively. Thagrfvalue of the deferred compensation plan
investments were $9.3 million and $8.2 millionDetcember 31, 2014 and December 25, 2013 , resphbctiv

Deferred Financing Costs Costs related to the issuance of debt are defamddimortized as a component of interest experisg e
effective interest method over the terms of theeetve debt issuances.

Cash Overdrafts. There were no cash overdrafts at December 31, 28tdounts payable in our Consolidated Balance Shnaelude cash
overdrafts of $1.6 million at December 25, 2013hafges in such amounts are reflected in cash flmws financing activities in the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Selfinsurance liabilities. We record liabilities for insurance claims durirgripds in which we have been insured under largeictéle
programs or have been self-insured for our mediedins and workers¢ompensation, general/product and automobile imseréabilities. The
liabilities for prior and current estimated incudi@sses are discounted to their present valuedbasexpected loss payment patterns
determined by independent actuaries using our Heistarical payments. These estimates includerapsians regarding claims frequency and
severity as well as changes in our business envieot, medical costs and the regulatory environrtiettcould impact our overall self-
insurance costs.

Total discounted workers’ compensation, generatifipco and automobile insurance liabilities at Decengi, 2014 and December 25, 2013
were $23.1 million and $23.8 million , respectivelith each reflecting a 1.0% discount rate. Télated undiscounted amounts at such dates
were $23.7 million and $24.4 million , respectively

Income Taxes We account for income taxes under the asset abititfanethod. Deferred tax assets and liabilites recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differehetaeen the financial statement carrying amouhéxisting assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases and operating loss and tdit cegryforwards. A valuation allowance reduces et deferred tax assets to the amount
is more likely than not to be realized. We makeaaierestimates and judgments in the calculatioounfprovision for incomes taxes, in the
resulting tax liabilities, and in the recoveralildf deferred tax assets.

Leases and SubleaseOur policy requires the use of a consistent leasa for (i) calculating the maximum depreciatiomipeé for related
buildings and leasehold improvements; (ii) clasatjythe lease; and (iii)) computing periodic renpexse increases where the lease terms
include escalations in rent over the lease term.[€ase term commences on the date we gain accasd tontrol over the leased property.
account for rent escalations in leases on a stréiigh basis over the expected lease term. Anyhelitiays after lease commencement are
recognized on a straight-line basis over the exquklgase term, which includes the rent holidayguerfieasehold improvements that have bee
funded by lessors have historically
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been insignificant. Any leasehold improvements vakenthat are funded by lessor incentives or all@@amnder operating leases are recorde
as leasehold improvement assets and amortizedlwwexpected lease term. Such incentives are etsvded as deferred rent and amortize
reductions to lease expense over the expected tieraseWe record contingent rent expense basedtimated sales for respective restaurants
over the contingency period. Contingent rental imeads recognized when earned.

Fair Value MeasurementsThe carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalaot®unts receivables, accounts payable and acexpethses

are deemed to approximate fair value due to theddiate or short-term maturity of these instrumenke fair value of notes receivable
approximates the carrying value after consideratiorecorded allowances and related risk-baseddsteates. The liabilities under our credit
facility are carried at historical cost. The estiethfair value (Level 2) of our senior secured téoam approximates its carrying value. The fair
value of our long-term debt is determined basecharket prices or, if market prices are not avadatiie present value of the underlying cash
flows discounted at market rates.

Derivative InstrumentsWe use derivative financial instruments to manageexposure to interest rate risk. We do not enterderivative
instruments for trading or speculative purposesdAtivatives are recognized on our Consolidateléuiae Sheets at fair value based upon
qguoted market prices. Changes in the fair valuekediatives are recorded in earnings or other cetrgnsive income, based on whether the
instrument is designated as a hedge transactians®alosses on derivative instruments reporteatfier comprehensive income are classifiec
to earnings in the period the hedged item affegtrings. If the underlying hedge transaction cesesist, any associated amounts reported |
other comprehensive income are reclassified toiggsrat that time. Any ineffectiveness is recogdireearnings in the current period. By
entering into derivative instruments, we are exddsecounterparty credit risk. When the fair vatiie derivative instrument is in an asset
position, the counterparty has a liability to u$iieh creates credit risk for us. We manage our supoto this risk by selecting counterparties
with investment grade credit ratings and regulartynitoring our market position with each countetpar

Contingencies and Litigation. We are subject to legal proceedings involving ardirand routine claims incidental to our businassyell as
legal proceedings that are nonroutine and incluepensatory or punitive damage claims. Our ultinkegel and financial liability with respe
to such matters cannot be estimated with certaintyrequires the use of estimates in recordingitiab for potential litigation settlements.
When the reasonable estimate is a range, the etdods will be the best estimate within the rane.record legal settlement costs as other
operating expenses in our Consolidated Statemémsame as those costs are incurred.

Comprehensive Income.Comprehensive income includes net income and attreprehensive income items that are excluded fretn n
income under U.S. generally accepted accountingiplies. Other comprehensive income items incluftbtimnal minimum pension liability
adjustments and the effective unrealized portiochainges in the fair value of cash flow hedges.

SegmentDenny’s operates in only one segment. All significevenues and pre-tax earnings relate to retlibof food and beverages to the
general public through either company or franchigstaurants.

Company Restaurant Sale€ompany restaurant sales are recognized when fubteverage products are sold at company restauhafat
present company restaurant sales net of sales taxes

Gift cards. We sell gift cards which have no stated expiratiates. We recognize revenue from gift cards whergift card is redeemed by 1
customer or when we determine the likelihood oeragtion is remote (gift card breakage). Breakadm&ed on our company-specific
historical redemption patterns. We recognized $@ildon , $0.3 million and $0.3 million in breakage gift cards during 2014 , 2013 and
2012 , respectively. We believe that the amourdsgeized for breakage have been and will continuzetinsignificant.

Franchise and License FeesWe recognize initial franchise and license feesmwdieof the material obligations have been perfedrand
conditions have been satisfied, typically when apens of a new franchised restaurant have comnge@antinuing fees, such as royalties
rents, are recorded as income. During 2014 , 26813812 , we recorded initial fees of $1.9 millig®.6 million and $3.0 million
respectively, as a component of franchise and $ieeavenue in our Consolidated Statements of IncétnBecember 31, 2014 and
December 25, 2013 , deferred fees were $1.6 midlimh$1.1 million , respectively, and are includedther accrued liabilities in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. For 22043 and 2012 , our ten largest franchisees ateddor 32% of our franchise
revenues.

Advertising Cost:. We expense production costs for radio and telewiaivertising in the year in which the commercaaks initially aired.
Advertising expense for 2014 , 2013 and 2012 wa&s3btillion , $11.7 million and $13.4 million , q@sctively, net of contributions from
franchisees to our advertising programs, includiaogl co-operatives, of $70.3 million , $66.6 nati
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and $65.1 million , respectively. Advertising coate recorded as a component of other operatingrnsegs in our Consolidated Statements of
Income.

Restructuring and exit costs Restructuring and exit costs consist primarilyhef tosts of future obligations related to closetiangrants,
severance and other restructuring charges for teed employees, and are included as a componepeoéting (gains), losses and other
charges, net in our Consolidated Statements ofheco

Discounted liabilities for future lease costs dmel fiair value of related subleases of closed restasi are recorded when the restaurants are
closed. All other costs related to closed restaarare expensed as incurred. In assessing theudisebliabilities for future costs of obligations
related to closed restaurants, we make assumptgasding amounts of future assumed subleasdwedétassumptions or their related
estimates change in the future, we may be requireecord additional exit costs or reduce exit s@seviously recorded. Exit costs recorded
for each of the periods presented include the effesuch changes in estimates.

We evaluate restaurant closures for potential dssok as discontinued operations based on an as=#ssf several quantitative and qualitas
factors, including the nature of the closure, rexemigration to other company and franchised reatds and planned market development in
the vicinity of the disposed restaurant.

Disposal or Impairment of Lon-lived Assets. We evaluate our long-lived assets for impairmerthatrestaurant level on a quarterly basis,
when assets are identified as held for sale or ed@nchanges or events indicate that the carryagevmay not be recoverable. For assets
identified as held for sale, we use the market@ggr and consider proceeds from similar asset.dalesssess impairment of restaurant-level
assets based on the operating cash flows of tteurast, expected proceeds from the sale of agsdtsur plans for restaurant closings.
Generally, all restaurants with negative cash flinom operations for the most recent twelve morathsach quarter end are included in our
assessment. For underperforming assets, we ugecthrae approach to determine both the recoverglaitid estimated fair value of the assets.
To estimate future cash flows we make certain aptions about expected future operating performaseeh) as revenue growth, operating
margins, risk-adjusted discount rates, and futaomemic and market conditions. If the long-livedets of a restaurant are not recoverable
based upon estimated future, undiscounted casts floe write the assets down to their fair valughéise estimates or their related assump
change in the future, we may be required to readditional impairment charges. These charges ahedad as a component of operating
(gains), losses and other charges, net in our didased Statements of Income.

Assets held for sale consist of real estate prigseaind/or restaurant operations that we expesgltavithin the next year. The assets are
reported at the lower of carrying amount or failuedess costs to sell. We cease recording depi@tian assets that are classified as held for
sale. If the determination is made that we no lorgypect to sell an asset within the next yearaieet is reclassified out of held for sale.

Gains on Sales of Restaurants Operations to Frarsges, Real Estate and Other AssetSenerally, gains on sales of restaurant operatimns
franchisees (which may include real estate), retaite properties and other assets are recognized thk sales are consummated and certain
other gain recognition criteria are met. Total gaane included as a component of operating (gdwsjes and other charges, net in our
Consolidated Statements of Income.

Share-Based CompensatiorShare-based compensation cost is measured atahedgte, based on the fair value of the awardjsand
recognized as an expense over the requisite sqyeibed. We estimate potential forfeitures of sHamsed awards and adjust the forfeiture rate
over the requisite service period to the exteritdictual forfeitures differ, or are expected tdefif from such estimates. Share-based
compensation expense is included as a compongeinafral and administrative expenses in our CoretelitiStatements of Income. Any tax
expense or benefit in excess of recognized compienszost is reported as a financing activity om Gonsolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Compensation expense for options is recognizedstragyht-line basis over the requisite servicequefor the entire award. Generally,
compensation expense related to restricted stoitk, performance shares, performance units anddlateferred stock units is based on the
number of shares and units expected to vest, thedoever which they are expected to vest and divenfiarket value of the common stock on
the date of the grant. For restricted stock units gerformance shares that contain a market conditompensation expense is based on the
Monte Carlo valuation method, which utilizes mukinput variables to determine the probabilitytted Company achieving the market
condition and the fair value of the award. The amai certain cash-settled awards is determineddas the date of payment. Therefore,
compensation expense related to these cash-sattidls is adjusted to fair value at each balaneetstate.

Subsequent to the vesting period, earned stettked restricted stock units and performanceesh@oth of which are equity classified) are
to the holder in shares of common stock, and teb-sattled restricted stock units and performamdes u
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(both of which are liability classified) are paathe holder in cash, provided the holder is th#hesnployed with Denny’s or an affiliate.
Earnings Per Share. Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividieigincome by the weighted average number of conshares
outstanding during the period. Diluted earningsgteare is calculated by dividing net income bywlegghted average number of common
shares and potential common shares outstandinggdtlmé period.

Accounting Standards to be Adopte

Discontinued Operation

ASU 201-08, "Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disales of Disposals of Components of an Entity"

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-08, whielises the threshold for a disposal to qualify diseontinued operation and modifies the
related disclosure requirements. Under the newamae, only disposals resulting in a strategic shit will have a major effect on an entity's
operations and financial results will be reportediscontinued operations. ASU 2014-08 also remtwesequirement that an entity not have
any significant continuing involvement in the opgéras of the component after disposal to qualifyriEporting of the disposal as a discontir
operation. The guidance is effective for annual iatelim periods beginning after December 15, 2@l fiscal 2015), with early adoption
permitted for any disposal transaction not previpusported. We do not believe the adoption of giglance will have a material impact on
our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognitic

ASU 201-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers"

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2008; which clarifies the principles used to recognievenue for all entities. The new guidance rexg
companies to recognize revenue when it transfesdgor service to a customer in an amount thatctslthe consideration to which a comp
expects to be entitled. ASU 2014-09 is effectivedionual and interim periods beginning after Decenits, 2016 (our fiscal 2017). The
guidance allows for either a "full retrospectivelbation or a "modified retrospective" adoption, lewer early adoption is not permitted. We
currently evaluating the adoption methods andmigaict the adoption of this guidance will have on@ansolidated financial statements,
however we do not believe the adoption of this goa will have a material impact on our consoliddieancial statements.

ShareBased Compensation

ASU 201-12, "Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic A&)ounting for Share-Based Payments When the Tefrars Award Provide
That a Performance Target Could Be Achieved afterRequisite Service Period (a consensus of th&MRASerging Issues Task Force)"

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-12, vhlarifies the accounting for share-based paymehen the terms of an award provide
that a performance target could be achieved dfterdquisite service period. ASI 2014-12 is effecfor annual and interim periods beginning
after December 15, 2015 (our fiscal 2016) withyeadoption permitted. We do not believe the adaptibthis guidance will have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements,

Going Concern

ASU 201-15, "Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entit@bility to Continue as a Going Concern"

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, whigdfuires management to evaluate whether theréd&amntial doubt about an entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to piewvielated footnote disclosures in certain circamsts. ASU 2014-15 is effective for annual
and interim periods beginning after December 1362@ur fiscal 2017) with early adoption permitt¥de do not believe the adoption of this
guidance will have a material impact on our cortkikd financial statements.

We reviewed all other newly issued accounting pummeements and concluded that they are either mdicaple to our business or are not

expected to have a material effect on the finarstatements as a result of future adoption.
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Note 3. Receivables

Receivables, net were comprised of the following:

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013

(In thousands)
Current assets:

Receivables:

Trade accounts receivable from franchisees $ 10,92¢ $ 10,07z
Notes receivable from franchisees and third parties 1,41¢ 1,80(
Vendor receivables 2,53¢ 2,51¢
Credit card receivables 1,661 2,16z
Other 1,81¢ 1,00z
Allowance for doubtful accounts (300 (237)

Total current receivables, net $ 18,05¢ $ 17,32:

Noncurrent assets (included as a component of ottrecurrent assets):

Notes receivable from franchisees $ 428 $ 76€

Note 4.  Property, Net

Property, net consisted of the following:

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013

(In thousands)

Land $ 27,19t $ 27,19¢
Buildings and leasehold improvements 233,33¢ 229,91¢
Other property and equipment 77,49 75,74(
Total property owned 338,03( 332,85¢
Less accumulated depreciation 241,67¢ 241,25
Property owned, net 96,35: 91,59¢
Buildings, vehicles and other equipment held urdgital leases 26,83¢ 28,73(
Less accumulated amortization 13,41 14,70¢
Property held under capital leases, net 13,42¢ 14,02:
Total property, net $ 109,77 $ 105,62(

The following table reflects the property asseatsiuded in the table above, which were leasedatachisees:

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013

(In thousands)

Land $ 14977 $ 14,97
Buildings and leasehold improvements 63,09¢ 64,45¢
Total property owned, leased to franchisees 78,07¢ 79,43
Less accumulated depreciation 53,99¢ 54,47:
Property owned, leased to franchisees, net 24,08 24,96:
Buildings held under capital leases, leased tccfimees 7,251 10,20¢
Less accumulated amortization 5,20¢ 7,34¢
Property held under capital leases, leased toliiaees, net 2,04 2,861
Total property leased to franchisees, net $ 26,12 § 27,82¢







Depreciation expense, including amortization ofgemy under capital leases, for 2014 , 2013 an@ 2@ds $19.2 million , $18.6 million and
$19.1 million , respectively. Substantially all oechproperty is pledged as collateral for our CrEditility. See Note 10.

Note 5.  Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
The following table reflects the changes in camgyamounts of goodwill:

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013
(In thousands)

Balance, beginning of year $ 31,45. $ 31,43(
Additions related to acquisitions — 28
Write-offs and reclassifications associated witle &d restaurants — @)

Balance, end of year $ 31,457 $ 31,45:

Other intangible assets were comprised of the\fiaiig:

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013
Gross Carrying Accumulated Gross Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

(In thousands)
Intangible assets with indefinite lives:

Trade names $ 44,068 $ — 44,058 $ —

Liquor licenses 12¢€ — 12¢€ —
Intangible assets with definite lives:

Franchise and license agreements 22,36¢ 21,42¢ 31,24¢ 29,00°

Reacquired franchise rights 1,85 71C 1,857 354

Intangible assets $ 68,41: $ 22,13t $ 77,28t $ 29,36:

The $8.9 million decrease in franchise and licaagreements primarily resulted from the removalutlyfamortized agreements. The
amortization expense for definite-lived intangibéesl other assets for 2014 , 2013 and 2012 was#iflidn , $2.9 million and $3.2 million ,
respectively.

Estimated amortization expense for intangible ass@h definite lives in the next five years isfabows:

(In thousands)

2015 $ 1,072
2016 40C
2017 11¢
2018 52
2019 52

We performed an annual impairment test as of Deeerdb, 2014 and determined that none of the redagdedwill or other intangible assets
with indefinite lives were impaired.




Note 6. Other Current Liabilities

Other current liabilities consisted of the follogin

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013
(In thousands)

Accrued salaries and vacation $ 23,92¢ % 18,81(
Accrued insurance, primarily current portion obliéy for insurance claims 6,34( 7,51¢
Accrued taxes 7,12¢ 6,25¢
Accrued advertising 8,027 6,791
Gift cards 4,015 4,057
Other 9,991 9,26:

Other current liabilities 59,43: 52,69¢

Note 7. Operating (Gains), Losses and Other Chges, Net
Operating (gains), losses and other charges, net esnprised of the following:
Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012
(In thousands)

Gains on sales of assets and other, net $ (112) $ (66) $ (7,090
Restructuring charges and exit costs 981 1,38¢ 3,91
Impairment charges 401 5,74¢ 3,66(

Operating (gains), losses and other charges, net ~ $ 1,27C  $ 7,071 $ 48z

Restructuring charges and exit costs were compaééte following:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012
(In thousands)

Exit costs $ 33t 3 63C $ 1,92¢
Severance and other restructuring charges 64¢€ 75¢ 1,98¢
Total restructuring charges and exit costs $ 981 $ 1,38¢ $ 3,912

Severance and other restructuring charges of $Rli@mfor 2012 includes charges related to theatgpe of the Company's former Chief
Operating Officer.




The components of the change in accrued exit @istities were as follows:

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013
(In thousands)

Balance, beginning of year $ 3,14¢ % 4,061
Exit costs (1) 33t 63C
Payments, net of sublease receipts (1,426 (1,726
Reclassification of certain lease liabilities, net (95 (69)
Interest accretion 17¢ 258

Balance, end of year 2,14; 3,14¢
Less current portion included in other currentiliies 482 1,26(

Long-term portion included in other noncurrent iities $ 165¢ $ 1,88¢

(1) Included as a component of operating (gains), kasé other charges, r

Estimated net cash payments related to exit calsilities in the next five years are as follows:

(In thousands)

2015 $ 59€
2016 34¢€
2017 28¢
2018 301
2019 272
Thereafter 901

Total 2,70
Less imputed interest 568

Present value of exit cost liabilities $ 2,14:

The present value of exit cost liabilities is ne$@.4 million of existing sublease arrangemenis .4 million related to properties for which
we assume we will enter into sublease agreemeileifuture. See Note 8 for a schedule of futuneirmiim lease commitments and amoun
be received as lessor or sub-lessor for both opdrtidsed restaurants.

Impairment charges of $0.4 million for the year etnddecember 31, 2014 resulted primarily from thpairment of an underperforming
restaurant. Impairment charges of $5.7 milliontfer year ended December 25, 2013 resulted primfacity the $4.8 million impairment of an
underperforming restaurant and the $0.8 millmpairment of restaurants and a piece of real egiantified as assets held for sale. Impairr
charges of $3.7 million for the year ended Decen®iie2012 resulted primarily from the impairmensefen restaurants identified as held for
sale and the impairment of an underperforming ueatd.

Note 8. Leases

Our operations utilize property, facilities and gument leased from others. Buildings and facilities primarily used for restaurants and
support facilities. Many of our restaurants arerapeel under lease arrangements which generallyigedor a fixed basic rent, and, in many
instances, contingent rent based on a percentagr@sd revenues. Initial terms of land and restgurailding leases generally range from 10 tc
15 years, exclusive of options to renew, whichtgpécally for five year periods. Leases of otheuipgnent consist primarily of restaurant
equipment, computer systems and vehicles.




Minimum future lease commitments and amounts tcebeived as lessor or sublessor under non-canedkidides, including leases for both
open and closed restaurants, at December 31, 28ftas follows:

Commitments Lease Receipts
Capital Operating Operating
(In thousands)

2015 $ 6,451 $ 31,90 $ 30,61(
2016 5,561 29,47 28,54¢
2017 4,967 26,65¢ 26,53:
2018 3,73¢ 22,37¢ 23,07:
2019 2,97( 18,14 19,06:
Thereafter 9,30¢ 65,61 97,16¢

Total 32,99¢ $ 194,16 $ 224,98t
Less imputed interest 14,18(

Present value of capital lease obligations $ 18,81

Rent expense is a component of both occupancy sgperd costs of franchise and license revenueri€onsolidated Statements of Income.
Lease and sublease rental income is a componémnmhise and license revenue in our Consolidatate@ents of Income. Rental expense
and income were comprised of the following:

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012
(In thousands)

Rental expense:

Base rents $ 33,40: $ 35,660 $ 38,32¢
Contingent rents 5,53¢ 5,41z 5,762
Total rental expense $ 38,937 % 41,07¢ $ 44,08¢

Rental income:

Base rents $ 33,92t $ 36,18! $ 37,36
Contingent rents 4,60¢ 4,38¢ 3,871
Total rental income $ 38,53« § 40,57: $ 41,23¢




Note 9.  Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities Measured onRecurring and Nonrecurring Basis

Financial assets and liabilities measured at faluer on a recurring basis are summarized below:

Quoted Prices in  Significant

Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable  Unobservable
Assets/Liabilities Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Valuation
Technique

(In thousands)
Fair value measurements as of December 31, 2014:

Deferred compensation plan investments (1) $ 929 3 9,298 $ —  $ —
Interest rate swaps (2) 642 — 642 —
Interest rate caps (2) $ 0 $ — ¢ 0o $ —

Total $ 9937 $ 9,295 % 64z $ —

Fair value measurements as of December 25, 2013:

Deferred compensation plan investments (1) $ 8,16t $ 8,16¢ $ — $ —
Interest rate swaps (2) $ 303 $ — % 3,03 $ —
Interest rate caps (2) $ 1 % — 3 1 3 —

Total $ 1121 $ 8,16¢ $ 3,04: $ —

market approach
income approach
income approach

market approach
income approach
income approach

(1) The fair values of our deferred compensatilam fnvestments are based on the closing marketof the participantglected investmen
(2) The fair values of our interest rate swapsiatetest rate caps are based upon Level 2 inptiish include valuation models as reported by our
counterparties. The key inputs for the valuatiordels are quoted market prices, interest rates @mehfd yield curves. See Note 10 for details on

the interest rate swaps and interest rate caps.
See Note 11 for the disclosures related to thevtdire of our pension plan assets.

Those assets and liabilities measured at fair vatua nonrecurring basis are summarized below:

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs Impairment Valuation
(Level 3) Charges Technique
Fair value measurements as of December 31, 2014:
Assets held and used (1) $ — 32C income approach
Fair value measurements as of December 25, 2013:
Assets held and used (1) $ 119 $ 4,79t income approach

(1) As of both December 31, 2014 and December 25, A61&ired assets related to an underperforminguesint were written down to their fair value.
To determine fair value, we used the income approahich assumes that the future cash flows refleatent market expectations. These fair value
measurements require significant judgment usingeL8\unputs, such as discounted cash flows frommaifmns, which are not observable from the

market, directly or indirectly.




Note 10. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following:

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013
(In thousands)

Revolving loans due April 24, 2018 $ 85,25( $ 95,25(
Term loans due April 24, 2018 54,75( 57,75(
Capital lease obligations 18,81 20,07:
Total long-term debt 158,81 173,07
Less current maturities 7,734 7,15(C
Noncurrent portion of long-term debt $ 151,07¢ $ 165,92

Aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt, edicig capital lease obligations (see Note 8), atdb®ber 31, 2014 are as follows:

(In thousands)

2015 $ 4,12¢
2016 4,50(
2017 5,62¢
2018 125,75(
2019 —
Thereafter —

Total long-term debt, excluding capital lease cdtiigns $ 140,00(

Denny's Corporation and certain of its subsidiahnigge a credit facility comprised of a senior seduerm loan in an original principal amount
of $60 million and a $190 million senior securedalger (with a $30 million letter of credit sublithi As of December 31, 2014 , we had
outstanding term loan borrowings under the creiility of $54.8 million and outstanding lettersavédit under the senior secured revolver of
$25.7 million . There were $85.3 million of revaig loans outstanding at December 31, 2014 . Thalsedes resulted in availability of $79.0
million under the revolving facility. The weightedrerage interest rate under the term loan and tatemaling revolver loans was 2.17% , as of
both December 31, 2014 and December 25, 2013 .

The revolving credit facility includes an accordieature that would allow us to increase the sfab®@revolver to $240 million . A
commitment fee of 0.35% is paid on the unused poif the revolving credit facility. Borrowings uadthe credit facility bear a tiered interest
rate based on the Company's consolidated leveagigeand was initially set at LIBOR plus 200 bgsisnts. The maturity date for the credit
facility is April 24, 2018 .

The credit facility is guaranteed by the Compang & material subsidiaries and is secured by salisily all of the assets of the Company
and its subsidiaries, including the stock of thenpany's subsidiaries. It includes negative covenantl restrictions (including limitation on
additional borrowings, acquisitions, loans to frlisisees, capital expenditures, lease commitmertsk sepurchases and dividend payments)
that are usual for facilities of this type. Theditdacility also includes certain financial covensiwith respect to a maximum consolidated
leverage ratio, a minimum consolidated fixed chameerage ratio and maximum capital expenditures.

The term loan under the credit facility requiresoatization of the original term loan balance of p& year in the first two years (April 2013
through April 2015), 7.5% in the subsequent tworgdapril 2015 through April 2017) and 10% in th#hf year (April 2017 through April
2018) with the balance due at maturity. We areireguo make certain mandatory prepayments undé&ineircumstances and have the
option to make certain prepayments under the cfadiiity. The credit facility includes events oéfawult (and related remedies, including
acceleration and increased interest rates follo@mgvent of default) that are usual for facilitiesl transactions of this type.

During the year ended December 31, 2014 , we g&i@ illion on the term loan under the credit fagil
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Interest Rate Hedge

We have entered into interest rate hedges thatheablBOR rate on borrowings under our credit fi@gilThe 200 basis point LIBOR cap
applied to $125 million of borrowings from April 12013 through April 13, 2014 and applies to $15ian of borrowings from April 14,
2014 through March 31, 2015.

We also have entered into interest rate swapsdgéeha portion of the cash flows of our floatingerdebt from March 31, 2015 through March
29, 2018. During the quarter ended December 314,20& determined that a portion of the underlyiaghcflows related to the swap were no
longer probable of occurring over the term of thieiest rate swap due to the probability of payiregdebt down below the notional amount.

As a result, we terminated an interest rate swdlp avnotional amount of $30 million .

We continue to designate the remaining interestsaiap as a cash flow hedge of our exposure tahibity in future cash flows attributable to
payments of LIBOR due on a related $120 millioniovwdl debt obligation from March 31, 2015 throughrgh 29, 2018. Based on our
consolidated leverage ratio in effect as of Decam3lie2014, under the terms of the swap, we wil @a average fixed rate of 3.13% on the
notional amount and receive payments from a copatgr based on the 30-day LIBOR rate. As of Decar3tie 2014 , the fair value of the
interest rate swap was $0.6 million , which is reledl as a component of other noncurrent assetar@ansolidated Balance Sheets. See Not
15 for the amounts recorded in accumulated otheapcehensive loss related to the interest rate swap.

We believe that our estimated cash flows from djra for 2015 , combined with our capacity for giddal borrowings under our credit
facility, will enable us to meet our anticipateglkaequirements and fund capital expenditures thvenext twelve months.

Note 11. Employee Benefit Plans

We maintain several defined benefit plans whichec@vsubstantial number of employees. Benefitbased upon each employee’s years of
service and average salary. Our funding policyaseldl on the minimum amount required under the BEyapl®etirement Income Security Act
of 1974. Our pension plan was closed to new qualjfparticipants as of December 31, 1999. Beneéitssed to accrue for pension plan
participants as of December 31, 2004. We also miaintefined contribution plans.

On September 17, 2014, our Board of Directors amatdhe termination of the Advantica Pension PRnfaDecember 31, 2014, effective
upon confirmation of compliance with any requirenseinder the terms of our credit facility. We cuthg expect that termination of such plan
will be completed by the end of fiscal 2015 or ¢&016. Settlement gain or loss, if any, resulfimgn the termination will be recognized at
that time. See the "Contributions and Expected reuBenefit Payments" section below for detailstmndxpected impact of the termination.
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Defined Benefit Plans
The obligations and funded status for our penslan pnd other defined benefit plans were as foliows
Pension Plan Other Defined Benefit Plans

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013
(In thousands)

Change in Benefit Obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of yed 64,39 $ 73,92¢ $ 2,71¢ % 2,831
Service cost 38C 40C — —
Interest cost 3,09¢ 2,977 12¢ 111
Actuarial losses (gains) 12,31z (7,836 29¢ (37
Benefits paid (5,975 (5,076 (195) (19%)
Settlements — — (229 —
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 74,206 3 64,39. 3 2,71 $ 2,71¢
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 74,20¢ $ 64,39 $ 2,71 % 2,71¢

Change in Plan Assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning

of year $ 61,09 $ 58,00¢ $ — 3 —
Actual return on plan assets 5,201 5,36¢ — —
Employer contributions 2,50( 2,80(¢ 424 19t
Benefits paid (5,975 (5,076 (195) (19%)
Settlements — — (229 —
Fair value of plan assets at end of
year $ 62,82( $ 61,09 $ — % —
Funded status $ (11,389 $ (3,297 $ (2,719 $ (2,716

The amounts recognized in the Consolidated Bal&hets were as follows:

Pension Plan Other Defined Benefit Plans
December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013
(In thousands)

Other current liabilities $ — 3 — 3 (229 $ (4517)
Other noncurrent liabilities and deferred
credits (11,389 (3,297 (2,489 (2,265
Net amount recognized $ (11,389 $ (329) $ (2719 $ (2,716

The amounts recognized in accumulated other corepsie income, that have not yet been recognizedcasnponent of net periodic benefit
cost, were as follows:

Pension Plan Other Defined Benefit Plans
December 31, 2014  December 25, 2013  December 31, 2014  December 25, 2013
(In thousands)
Unamortized actuarial losses, net $ (27,579 (17,439 (2,081) (899)

Before considering the potential termination of qualified pension plan, during fiscal 2015 , $iflion and less than $0.1 million of
accumulated other comprehensive income will begeized related to the pension plan and other defvemefit plans, respectively.
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The components of the change in unamortized aetlasses, net, included in accumulated other cehmgmsive loss were as follows:

Fiscal Year

Ended

December 31, 2014

December 25, 2013

(In thousands)

Pension Plan:
Balance, beginning of year $ (17,43) $ (27,799
Benefit obligation actuarial (loss) gain (12,319 7,83¢
Net gain 1,24¢ 87¢€
Amortization of net loss 924 1,65:%
Balance, end of year $ (27,574 $ (17,437
Other Defined Benefit Plans:
Balance, beginning of year $ (899 $ (1,00%)
Benefit obligation actuarial (loss) gain (29¢) 37
Amortization of net loss 66 71
Settlement loss recognized 5C —
Balance, end of year $ (1,08) $ (899)

Minimum pension liability adjustments, net of tax f2014 , 2013 and 2012 were an addition of $6lBom, a reduction of $6.3 milliomand at
addition of $0.2 million , respectively.

Total minimum pension liability adjustments of $25nillion (net of a tax benefit of $3.7 million hd $18.7 million (including tax expense of
$0.4 million) are included as a component of accumulated attreprehensive loss, net in our Consolidated Stattsra# Shareholders' Equ
for the years ended December 31, 2014 and Dece?sb@013 , respectively.

The components of net periodic benefit cost wer®léswvs:

Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, 2014

December 25, 2013

December 26, 2012

(In thousands)

Pension Plan:
Service cost 38C $ 40C % 38C
Interest cost 3,09¢ 2,977 3,20(C
Expected return on plan assets (3,959 (4,489 (4,057
Amortization of net loss 924 1,65:% 1,762
Net periodic benefit cost 45C % 54z $ 1,28¢
Other comprehensive loss (income) 10,14: $ (10,369 $ 20z
Other Defined Benefit Plans:
Interest cost 12 % 111 $ 11€
Amortization of net loss 66 71 52
Settlement loss recognized 5C — —
Net periodic benefit cost 23¢ §$ 182 $ 16¢
Other comprehensive loss (income) 182§ (109 $ 17t

Net pension and other defined benefit plan coatdyding premiums paid to the Pension Benefit Guigr&€orporation) fo2014 , 2013 and

2012 were $0.7 million , $0.7 million and $1.5 noill , respectively.
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Assumptions

Because our pension plan was closed to new quadifyarticipants as of December 31, 1999 and besneddsed to accrue for Pension Plan
participants as of December 31, 2004, an assuntedf@crease in compensation levels was not ealplé for 2014 , 2013 or 2012 .

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012

Assumptions used to determine benefit obligations:
Discount rate 4.12% 4.98%

Assumptions used to determine net periodic pensistt

Discount rate 4.98% 4.18% 4.5%
Rate of increase in compensation levels N/A N/A N/A
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 6.5(% 7.7%% 7.7%%

In determining the expected long-term rate of retum assets, we evaluated our asset class retpectaions, as well as long-term historical
asset class returns. Projected returns are basewad equity and bond indices. Additionally, wasidered our historical compounded retu
which have been in excess of our forward-lookirtgnmeexpectations. In determining the discount,raehave considered long-term bond
indices of bonds having similar timing and amouwftsash flows as our estimated defined benefit payts1 We use a yield curve based on
quality, long-term corporate bonds to calculatedimgle equivalent discount rate that results enghme present value as the sum of each of tl
plan's estimated benefit payments discounted atréspective spot rates.

Plan Assets

The investment policy of our pension plan is base@n evaluation of our ability and willingnessagsume investment risk in light of the
financial and benefit-related goals objectives de@gto be prudent by the fiduciaries of our pengilam assets. These objectives include, but
are not limited to, earning a rate of return ovmetto satisfy the benefit obligation, managingded status volatility and maintaining sufficient
liquidity. As of December 31, 2014 , the stratetgiget asset allocation is 75% fixed income seegriidiversified between corporate and
government holdings and generally long duratiom) 25% equity securities (diversified between domestd international holdings).

We review the strategic asset allocation periotlidal determine the appropriate balance betweeharabrisk, taking into account the

regulatory funding requirements and the natureuofp@nsion plan's liabilities. We monitor the cottitpee performance versus market
benchmarks and rebalance to target allocationsdéssary on a quarterly basis.
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The fair values of our pension plan assets wefellsvs:

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2014

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets/Liabilities Inputs Inputs
Asset Category Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(In thousands)
Cash equivalents $ 181: $ 1,812 $ — 3 —
Equity securities:
U.S. large-cap (a) 7,15¢ 7,15¢ — —
U.S. mid-cap (b) 2,18: 2,182 — —
U.S. small-cap (c) 50€ 50€ — —
International large-cap 4,18¢ 4,18¢ — —
Fixed income securities:
U.S. Treasuries 5,20z 5,202 — —
Corporate bonds (d) 40,22¢ 40,22¢ — —
Other types of investments:
Commingled funds (e) 1,55:% — 1,55:% —
Total $ 62,82( $ 61,267 $ 155 $ —

(&) The majority of this category represents a fundhliie objective of approximating the return of 8&P 500 Index. The remaini
securities include both a large-value fund andgelgrowth fund investing in diverse industries.

(b) This category includes both a mid-growth fund wite objective of outperforming the Russell Mid Capwth Index and a mid-
value fund investing in diverse industries.

(c) This category includes both a small-value fund asehallgrowth fund investing in diverse industri

(d) This category includes intermediate and ld@gn investment grade bonds from diverse indus

(e) This category represents a fund of well diversifieatual funds with the objective of providing a lawlatility means to access
equity-like returns.




Fair Value Measurements as of December 25, 2013

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets/Liabilities Inputs Inputs
Asset Category Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(In thousands)
Cash equivalents $ 1,788 $ 1,78 % — $ —
Equity securities:
U.S. large-cap (a) 9,88( 9,88( — —
U.S. mid-cap (b) 2,467 2,467 — —
U.S. small-cap (c) 61% 61t — —
International large-cap 6,20(C 6,20( — —
Fixed income securities:
U.S. Treasuries 4,24% 4,24t — —
Corporate bonds (d) 33,31( 33,31( — —
Other types of investments:
Commingled funds (e) 2,59; — 2,592 —
Total $ 61,09¢ $ 58,50: $ 259: $ —

(&) The majority of this category represents a fundhliie objective of approximating the return of 8&P 500 Index. The remaini
securities include both a large-value fund andgelgrowth fund investing in diverse industries.
(b) This category includes both a mid-growth fund wite objective of outperforming the Russell Mid Capwth Index and a mid-

value fund investing in diverse industries.

(c) This category includes both a small-value fund asehallgrowth fund investing in diverse industri
(d) This category includes intermediate and ld@gn investment grade bonds from diverse indus
(e) This category represents a fund of well diversifieatual funds with the objective of providing a lawlatility means to access

equity-like returns.

Following is a description of the valuation methlmdpes used for assets measured at fair value.

Equity Securities and Fixed Income Securitieatu¢d at the net asset value (“NAV”) of shares lsidhe pension plan at year-end.
The NAV is a quoted price in an active market.

Cash Equivalents and Commingled Funds: Valuatietermined by the trustee of the money marketdwrd commingled funds
based on the fair value of the underlying secwitithin the fund, which represent the NAV, a picadtexpedient to fair value, of the

units held by the pension plan at year-end.

Contributions and Expected Future Benefit Payments

We made contributions of $2.5 million and $2.8 miilto our qualified pension plan during the yeamded December 31, 2014 and
December 25, 2013 , respectively. We made contabsiiof $0.4 million and $0.2 million to our othéefined benefit plans during the years
ended December 31, 2014 and December 25, 2013eatdgely. During fiscal 2015 or early 2016, welvoié required to make contributions to
the Advantica Pension Plan as a result of the gldt@rmination. We currently estimate that theserdmutions will be between $6 million and
$8 million . This estimate is based on expecteeratt rates, returns on plan assets and partigghections. We expect to contribute $0.2
million to our other defined benefit plans durin@l . Before considering the potential terminatibour qualified pension plan, benefits
expected to be paid for each of the next five yaarbsin the aggregate for the five fiscal yearef2020 through 2024 are as follows:
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Other Defined

Pension Plan Benefit Plans
(In thousands)
2015 $ 3,606 $ 224
2016 3,53( 28C
2017 3,48( 232
2018 3,52¢ 23¢
2019 3,621 42(
2020 through 2024 20,54¢ 1,16¢

Defined Contribution Plans

Eligible employees can elect to contribute up t&62H their compensation to our 401(k) plan. Assufeof certain IRS limitations,
participation in a non-qualified deferred compeiwgaplan is offered to certain employees. Undes théferred compensation plan, participants
are allowed to defer up to 50% of their annualryadad up to 100% of their incentive compensatidnder both plans, we make matching
contributions of up to 3%f compensation. Participants in the deferred coregion plan are eligible to participate in the @)Jplan; however
due to the above referenced IRS limitations, theynat eligible to receive the matching contribnsainder the 401(k) plan. Under these plans
we made contributions of $1.4 million , $1.4 mifliand $1.3 million for 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , retipely.

Note 12. Share-Based Compensation
Share-Based Compensation Plans

We maintain three share-based compensation plates which stock options and other awards granteaitemployees and directors are
outstanding. Currently, the Denny's Corporation2@mnibus Incentive Plan (the "2012 Omnibus Pl&Used to grant share-based
compensation to selected employees, officers amdtdrs of Denny’s and its affiliates. However, reserve the right to pay discretionary
bonuses, or other types of compensation, outsidei®oplan. At December 31, 2014 , there were 3Ilom shares available for grant under the
2012 Omnibus Plan. In addition, we have 0.8 milkbrares available to be issued outside of the 23th8ibus Plan pursuant to the grant or
exercise of employment inducement awards of stations and restricted stock units in accordanch WASDAQ Listing Rule 5635(c)(4).

Share-Based Compensation Expense
Total share-based compensation expense included@mponent of net income was as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012
(In thousands)

Stock options $ 52 % 55¢ $ 90¢
Performance share awards 5,00¢ 3,48¢ 2,05(
Restricted stock units for board members 78E 80¢ 537
Total share-based compensation $ 5,84t $ 4,85. % 3,49¢

Stock Options

Options granted to date generally vest evenly 8waars, have a 1@ear contractual life and are issued at the markiete at the date of grai
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The following table summarizes information abowicktoptions outstanding and exercisable at Dece3ibe2014 :

Weighted Average Aggregate
Weighted Average Remaining Intrinsic
Options Exercise Price Contractual Life Value
(In thousands) (In thousands)
Outstanding, beginning of year 2,191 $ 3.2¢
Exercised (659 $ 3.32
Outstanding, end of year 153t ¢ 3.2¢ 428 $ 10,84:
Exercisable, end of year 1,53t g 3.2¢ 428 $ 10,84

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the @éiffez between the market price of our stock on Dbeeidil, 2014 and the exercise price,
multiplied by the number of options that have aareise price that is less than the market priceuofstock. The aggregate intrinsic value of
options exercised was $3.0 million , $2.6 millamd $1.7 million during the years ended Decembe@14 , December 25, 2013 and
December 26, 2012 , respectively.

There were no options granted during the yearsceBaeember 31, 2014 , December 25, 2013 and Dece26b2012 . As of December 31,
2014 , there was no unrecognized compensationrelaséd to unvested stock option awards outstanding

Restricted Stock Unit
We primarily grant restricted stock units contagnanmarket condition based on the total shareho&tarn of our stock compared with the

returns of a group of peer companies. The numbshaifes that are ultimately released is depengmt the level of obtainment of the market
condition. The following table summarizes infornoatiabout restricted stock units activity:

Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Grant Date Grant Date Grant Date

Units Fair Value Units Fair Value Units Fair Value

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Outstanding, beginning of year 83z $ 6.5¢F 93z $ 4.3(C 1,27¢ $ 3.1¢
Granted 28t % 7.51 331 $ 8.0t 397 $ 6.0t
Released (182) $ 4.7¢ (430 $ 2.8¢ (445) $ 3.2¢
Forfeited 90) $ 7.2z 2 3% 4.6: (295) $ 3.37
Outstanding, end of year 84t % 7.2C 83z $ 6.5% 93z $ 4.3C
Nonvested, end of year 54¢ $ 7.82 661 $ 7.0E 804 $ 4.5¢

The fair value of shares released during the yeatded December 31, 2014 , December 25, 2013 arehides 26, 2012 , were $1.4 million ,
$2.7 million and $1.4 million , respectively.




In February 2014, we granted approximately 0.2iamlperformance shares and related performancettiasget cash awards of $2.2 millitm
certain employees. In April 2014, we granted I&ss1t0.1 million performance shares and relatecdbpmdnce-based target cash awards of $0.
million to additional employees under the same awsan. As these awards contain a market condiidvipnte Carlo valuation was used to
determine the performance shares' grant date dhievof $7.65 per share (February 2014) and $6e88mare (April 2014) and the payout
probabilities of the target cash awards. The awgrdsted to our named executive officers also éorstgperformance condition based on
certain operating measures for the fiscal year @mkcember 31, 2014 . The performance period ithifee year fiscal period beginning
December 26, 2013 and ending December 28, 2016pditiermance shares and cash awards will vest amdimed (from 0% to 200% of the
target award for each such increment) at the ertldeoperformance period based on the total shatehokturn of our stock compared with the
total shareholder returns of a group of peer corigzan

D uring the years ended December 31, 2014 , Dece2®@013 and December 26, 2012 , we made payroéfits1 million , $1.2 milliorand
$1.0 million in cash, respectively and issued shafed.1 million , 0.3 million and 0.2 million , spectively related to restricted stock units.

As of December 31, 2014 and December 25, 2013hadeaccrued compensation of $2.5 million and $0llfom, respectively, included as a
component of other current liabilities and $2.5liorl and $1.9 million , respectively, included ascanponent of other noncurrent liabilities in
our Consolidated Balance Sheets (based on thedhie of the related shares for the liability cifisd units as of the respective balance sheet
dates). As of December 31, 2014 , we had $4.60nilif unrecognized compensation cost related tested restricted stock unit awards
granted, which is expected to be recognized oweeighted average of 1.7 years .

Board Deferred Stock Unit

During the year ended December 31, 2014 , we gitahtemillion deferred stock units (which are eguiassified) with a weighted average
grant date fair value of $6.57 per unit to non-esgpe members of our Board of Directors. A direatary elect to convert these awards into
shares of common stock either on a specific datiedriuture (while still serving as a member of Beard of Directors) or upon termination as
a member of the Board of Directors. During the yerated December 31, 2014 , less than 0.1 milliderdsd stock units were converted into
shares of common stock. As of December 31, 201&l had approximately $0.2 million of unrecognizechpensation cost related to all
unvested deferred stock unit awards outstanding;hwik expected to be recognized over a weightedame of 0.3 years.

Note 13. Income Taxes
The provisions for income taxes were as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012
(In thousands)

Current:
Federal $ 377 $ 428 % 87t
State and local 1,81¢ 1,54¢ 382
Foreign 89¢ 872 76€
Deferred:
Federal 13,26¢ 9,28t 9,68:
State and local (54) (18%) 1,74C
Release of valuation allowance 270 (420 (661)
Total provision for income taxes $ 16,03¢  $ 11,52¢  $ 12,78




The reconciliation of income taxes at the U.S. fabistatutory tax rate to our effective tax ratesvaa follows:

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012

Statutory provision rate 35% 35% 35%
State and local taxes, net of federal income taetie 3 5 4
Foreign taxes, net of federal income tax benefit 1 1 1
Wage addback on income tax credits earned 2 3 2
General business credits generated (6) (20 @)
Other Q) Q) 3
Release of valuation allowance Q) Q) 2
Effective tax rate 33% 32% 3€%

During 2014, we recorded a benefit of $0.3 milliefated to changes in the valuation allowance tk®2014 period, the difference in the
overall effective rate from the U.S. statutory rates primarily due to state and foreign taxes giageration of employment tax credits and two
discrete tax items. State job tax credits of $0ilian were claimed during 2014 for current yeanising activity. State job tax credits of $0.5
million were also claimed during the 2014 periosuléng from the prior year's hiring activity. hddition, share-based compensation
adjustments resulted in an out-of-period tax béméf$0.5 million . We do not believe the out-ofrjmel adjustment was material to any prior or
current year financial statements or on earningsds.

During 2013, we recorded a benefit of $0.4 milliefated to changes in the valuation allowance tk®R2013 period, the difference in the
overall effective rate from the U.S. statutory rages due to state and foreign taxes, employmentriedits and discrete tax items. The passage
of the American Tax Payer Relief Act of 2012 resdlin deferred tax benefits of $0.3 million relatedvork opportunity credits generated in
2012, which were allowed retroactively. In additigtate job tax credits of $0.8 million were cladrduring the 2013 period resulting from the
prior year's hiring activity. A valuation allowanoé$0.2 million was recorded against certain sj@lbs tax credits during the 2013 period
related to changes in California law enacted dutiregperiod.

During 2012, we recorded a benefit of $0.7 millfetated to changes in the valuation allowance tk®2012 period, the difference in the
overall effective rate from the U.S. statutory rages due to state and foreign taxes and discretiéetas, including a $1.7 million out-of-period
adjustment related to the reversal of a portiothefincome tax benefit recorded in fourth quarfe2@i1. This out-ofeeriod adjustment was r
material to any prior or current year financialtstaents or on earnings trends. In addition, a 8fillon tax benefit was recorded in 2012
relating to additional state credits generatedrdu#012 from prior years' activity.

The following table represents the approximateetfect of each significant type of temporary diffiece that resulted in deferred income tax
assets or liabilities.




December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013
(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Self-insurance accruals $ 9,06: $ 9,457
Capitalized leases 2,10z 2,36¢
Accrued exit cost 1,031 1,48k
Fixed assets 5,42¢ 10,43(
Pension, other retirement and compensation plans 16,52° 11,237
Other accruals 2,52¢ 88t
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards 7,811 10,34«
General business credit carryforwards - state addral 22,08¢ 29,49(
Net operating loss carryforwards - state 12,36¢ 12,97¢
Total deferred tax assets before valuation allowanc 78,94« 88,66¢
Less: valuation allowance (12,487) (12,757
Total deferred tax assets 66,46 75,91¢
Deferred tax liabilities:

Intangible assets (22,479 (22,95()
Deferred finance costs 177) (230
Interest rate swap (250 (1,189
Total deferred tax liabilities (22,90 (24,369
Net deferred tax asset $ 4356: $ 51,55¢

Net deferred tax assets are classified as follows:

Current $ 2431C $ 23,26«
Noncurrent 19,25 28,29(
Total $ 4356. $ 51,55¢

At December 31, 2014 , we had available, on a datated basis, federal general business crediyfmawards of approximately $24.7 millign
most of which expire between 2027 and 2034, artredtive minimum tax ("AMT") credit carryforward$ approximately $7.8 million which
never expire. We also had available AMT net opecalibss ("AMT NOL") carryforwards of approximateh28.0 million, which expire in 202
and 2030. Approximately $5.3 million of general imess credit carryforwards are unrecognized irstiteedule above and on our Consolidatec
Balance Sheets as a result of the application @& R&ragraph 718-740-25-10, which delays their neitiog in paidin capital until they reduc
taxes payable.

It is more likely than not that we will be ableutlize our credit carryforwards prior to expiratidn addition, it is more likely than not we will
be able to utilize all of our existing temporarjfeliences and a portion of our state tax net opgyddsses and state tax credit carryforwards
prior to their expiration.

Of the valuation allowance remaining, approximatk2y0 million , if released, will be credited ditlycto paid-in capital.
The South Carolina net operating loss carryforwaegsesent 78% of the total state net operating dasryforwards.

Prior to 2005, Denny’s had ownership changes wittinmeaning of Section 382 of the Internal Reveboee. In general, Section 382 places
annual limitations on the use of certain tax atii®s, such as AMT NOL and tax credit carryforwardsxistence at the ownership change «

It is our position that any pre-2005 AMT NOL and taedits can be utilized as of December 31, 20He. occurrence of an additional
ownership change could limit our ability to utiliverr current income tax credits generated afted200

There were no unrecognized tax benefits associtbdincertain income tax positions as of Decen@ier2014 and December 25, 2013 . We
do not expect the unrecognized tax benefits teeame over the next twelve months. As of and foy#aes ended December 31, 2014 and
December 25, 2013 , there were no related intarebsipenalties recognized in our Consolidated Bal&ieets and Consolidated Statements ¢
Income.




We file income tax returns in the U.S. federalgdittions and various state jurisdictions. With fexeceptions, we are no longer subject to U.S
federal, state and local, or n@hS. income tax examinations by tax authoritiesyfears before 2010. We remain subject to examindtioU.S
federal taxes for 2011-2014 and in the followinganatate jurisdictions: California (2010-2014)pFRtla (2011-2014) and Texas (2012-2014).

Note 14. Net Income Per Share
The amounts used for the basic and diluted netiecper share calculation are summarized below:
Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Net income $ 32,72 % 2457 $ 22,30¢
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic 86,32:¢ 90,82¢ 94,94¢
Effect of dilutive share-based compensation awards 2,03: 2,07¢ 1,80¢
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted 88,35¢ 92,90: 96,75¢
Basic net income per share $ 03t $ 027 $ 0.2t
Diluted net income per share $ 037 $ 0.2¢ $ 0.2¢
Anti-dilutive share-based compensation awards 21¢ 331 74¢

Note 15.  Shareholders' Equity
Share Repurchases

Our credit facility permits the payment of cashidénds and the purchase of Denny’s stock subjentiti@in limitations. Over the past several
years, our Board of Directors has approved shanercbase programs authorizing us to repurchase apsét amount of shares of our Comr
Stock. Under the programs, we may, from time ta@tipurchase shares in the open market (includiegapranged stock trading plans in
accordance with guidelines specified in Rule 10hBider the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) orimapely negotiated transactions, subject
to market and business conditions.

During 2013 and 2012, the Board approved sharecbpge programs for 10.0 million and 6.0 millialespectively. During 2014 , 2013 and
2012 , we repurchased 5.3 million , 4.2 million @@ million shares for a total of $36.0 millio$24.7 million and $22.2 millionrespectively
thus completing the 2012 repurchase program. A3sgember 31, 2014 , there are 3.9 million shanemi®ing to be repurchased under the
2013 repurchase program.

Repurchased shares are included as treasury sttlo& Consolidated Balance Sheets and the ContaliGtatements of Shareholders' Equity.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The components of the change in accumulated otiraprehensive loss were as follows:

Accumulated Other

Comprehensive
Pensions Derivatives Loss
(In thousands)

Balance as of December 28, 2011 $ (24,819 — 3 (24,81
Benefit obligation actuarial loss (4,807 — (4,802
Net gain 2,61( — 2,61(C
Amortization of net loss 1,81¢ — 1,81t
Income tax benefit 191 — 191

Balance as of December 26, 2012 $ (24,999 — % (24,999
Benefit obligation actuarial gain 7,87% — 7,87%
Net gain 87¢€ — 87¢€
Amortization of net loss 1,72¢ — 1,72¢
Net change in fair value of derivatives — 3,032 3,03:
Income tax expense (4,169 (1,189 (5,34¢)

Balance as of December 25, 2013 $ (18,690 1,84¢ $ (16,847
Benefit obligation actuarial loss (12,61 — (12,617
Net gain 1,24¢ — 1,24¢
Amortization of net loss 99C — 99C
Settlement loss recognized 5C — 50
Net change in fair value of derivatives — (2,389 (2,389
Income tax benefit 4,01¢ 93¢ 4,952
Balance as of December 31, 2014 $ (24,999 $ 392§ (24,607

During the years ended December 31, 2014 , Decegthe013 and December 26, 2012 , before-tax apatidin of net losses of $1.0 million ,
$1.7 million and $1.8 million , respectively, weezlassified from accumulated other comprehensige &nd included as a component of
pension expense within general and administratiperses in our Consolidated Statements of Incoine tax effect of the reclassifications
was expense of $0.4 million , $0.7 million and $6uflion , respectively. See Note 11 for additiodatails.

Note 16. Commitments and Contingencies

We have guarantees related to certain franchiseseseand loans. Payments under these guarantelesresult from the inability of a
franchisee to fund required payments when due.ugirdecember 31, 2014 , no events had occurreddlused us to make payments under
the guarantees. There were $9.8 million and $6lllomiof loans outstanding under these programaf @ecember 31, 2014 and December 25
2013, respectively. As of December 31, 2014 ntagimum amounts payable under the lease guarantelean guarantees were $2.0 million
and $1.7 million , respectively. As a result ofgsaguarantees, we have recorded liabilities ofamrately $0.1 million as of December 31,
2014 and December 25, 2013, which are includeda@smponent of other noncurrent liabilities andedefd credits in our Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets and other nonopemtpense in our Condensed Consolidated Statemehtsarfie.

There are various claims and pending legal actgasgnst or indirectly involving us, incidental todaarising out of the ordinary course of the
business. In the opinion of management, based impormation currently available, the ultimate liifyi with respect to these proceedings and
claims will not materially affect the Company's solidated results of operations or financial positi
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We have amounts payable under purchase contradtsoi and non-food products. Many of these agregsngo not obligate us to purchase
any specific volumes and include provisions thatild@llow us to cancel such agreements with apfatgnotice. Our future commitments for
both company and franchised restaurants at Dece®ib@014 under these contracts consist of thevidtig:

Purchase Obligations
(In thousands)

Payments due by period:

Less than 1 year $ 185,04!
1-2 years 20,577
3-4 years —
5 years and thereafter —

Total $ 205,62:

For agreements with cancellation provisions, am®urdluded in the table above represent our estimiagpurchase obligations during the
periods presented if we were to cancel these adstreith appropriate notice. We would likely takaidery of goods under such circumstan

Note 17.  Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, 2014 December 25, 2013 December 26, 2012
(In thousands)
Income taxes paid, net $ 3,80 $ 2,777 $ 2,03¢
Interest paid $ 8,17C $ 9,33t % 12,91¢

Noncash investing and financing activities:
Notes received in connection with disposition

of property $ —  $ — 3 29C
Accrued purchase of property $ 63t $ 1578 $ 1,57C
Issuance of common stock, pursuant to share-based

compensation plans $ 1,03C $ 1937 $ 1,151
Execution of capital leases $ 3,30C $ 5,66: $ 2,64:
Treasury stock payable $ 152 $ 22C % 56(

Note 18. Related Party Transactions
In prior years, including 2012, we sold companyaesants to franchisees that are former employeeisiding former officers. There were no

such sales during 2014 or 2013. We received castepds of $0.5 million and recognized a loss o2 $dillion from these related party sales
during 2012. In relation to these sales, we magranto leases or subleases with the franchiseesratal market rates.

Note 19. Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

The results for each quarter include all adjustseritich, in our opinion, are necessary for a fa@spntation of the results for interim periods.
All adjustments are of a normal and recurring ratur




Selected consolidated financial data for each quaiftfiscal 2014 and 2013 are set forth below:

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2014

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
(In thousands, except per share data)

Company restaurant sales $ 79,30 % 81,13t % 82,827 % 91,41¢
Franchise and licensing revenue 32,61¢ 33,47¢ 34,20t 37,31«
Total operating revenue 111,92( 114,61 117,03: 128,72¢
Total operating costs and expenses 100,64 99,66¢ 102,32: 112,32«
Operating income $ 11,27: $ 14,94 $ 14,70¢ $ 16,40
Net income $ 6,431 $ 8,27: % 8,34: $ 9,67¢
Basic net income per share (a) $ 0.07 $ 0.1C $ 0.1C $ 0.11
$ 0.07 $ 0.0¢ % 0.1C $ 0.11

Diluted net income per share (a)

(a) Per share amounts do not necessarily sum to taleydr amounts due to changes in shares outstaadiohrounding

Fiscal Year Ended December 25, 2013

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
(In thousands, except per share data)

Company restaurant sales $ 81,03( % 82,84. % 83,37. % 81,09:
Franchise and licensing revenue 33,46( 33,73( 33,90¢ 33,16t
Total operating revenue 114,49( 116,57: 117,27" 114,25
Total operating costs and expenses 101,03 103,95 103,75( 106,32t
Operating income $ 13,45. $ 12,61 $ 13,52 $ 7,931
Net income $ 7,081 % 6,19¢ $ 7,031 % 4,26:
Basic net income per share (a) $ 0.0¢ $ 0.07 $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0t
$ 0.07 $ 0.07 $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0t

Diluted net income per share (a)

(a) Per share amounts do not necessarily sum to thleyedr amounts due to changes in shares outstaadohrounding
The fluctuation in net income during the fourth qaaof 2013 relates primarily to the impairmentof underperforming restaurant.
Note 20. Subsequent Events

We performed an evaluation of subsequent eventsleremined that no events required disclosure.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, tigesteant has duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersignedetir@o duly authorized.

Date: March 13, 2015

DENNY'S CORPORATION

BY: /s/ F. Mark Wolfinger
F. Mark Wolfinger

Executive Vice President,
Chief Administrative Officer and
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed béelpthe following persons on ber
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ies indicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl John C. Miller Chief Executive Officer, Presid and Director March 13, 2015
(John C. Miller) (Principal Executive Officer)

Executive Vice President, Chief Administrative O#f, March 13, 2015

/sl F. Mark Wolfinger Chief Financial Officer and Director
(F. Mark Wolfinger) (Principal Financial Officer)
/sl Jay C. Gilmore Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and CogaerController March 13, 2015
(Jay C. Gilmore) (Principal Accounting Officer)
/sl Debra Smithart-Oglesby Director and Chairhaf Board of Directors March 13, 2015

(Debra Smithart-Oglesby)

/sl Gregg. R. Dedrick Director March 13, 2015
(Gregg R. Dedrick)

/sl José M. Gutiérrez Director March 13, 2015
(José M. Gutiérrez)

/sl George W. Haywood Director March 13, 2015
(George W. Haywood)

/s/ Brenda J. Lauderback Director March 13, 2015
(Brenda J. Lauderback)

/sl Robert E. Marks Director March 13, 2015
(Robert E. Marks)

/sl Louis P. Neeb Director March 13, 2015
(Louis P. Neeb)

/s/ Donald C. Robinson Director March 13, 2015
(Donald C. Robinson)




/sl Laysha Ward Director March 13, 2015

(Laysha Ward)



Deferred Stock Un Denny’s Corporation

Award Certificate ID: 13-3487402
203 East Main Street
Spartanburg, SC 29319

You have been awarded deferred stock units unéebémny’s Corporation 2012 Omnibus
Incentive Plan entitling you to receive shares efby’s Corporation $.01 par value common
stock at a future time under the terms indicatddvie

Effective Date of Award:

Number of Deferred Stock Units Awarded: units

Payment Rate: 1-for-1 basis

Payment Date:

Vesting Schedule: 100% vested 1
anniversary of effective date
of award)

No right or interest in this award may be pledgad;umbered, or hypothecated to or in fe
of any party other than Denny’s Corporation (th@figpany”), or shall be subject to any lien,
obligation, or liability to any party other tharet@ompany. This award is not assignable or
transferable by you other than by will or the ladfslescent and distribution.

This award is governed by the terms of the Den@ggporation 2012 Omnibus Incentive
Plan.

For Denny’s Corporation Date



Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of Denny's Corporation

Name State of Incorporation
Denny's, Inc. Florida
DFO, LLC Delaware

Denny's Realty, LLC Delaware



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking

The Board of Directors

Denny’s Corporation:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrégéstration statements (Nos. 333-53031, 333-58388-58167, 333-95981 (such
registration statement also constitutes a post&ffeamendment to registration statement No. 333%), 333-103220, 333-120093, 333-
151850, 333-168434 and 333-181468) on Form S-8tlentkgistration statement (No. 333-117902) omF8$¢3 of Denny’s Corporation of
our reports dated March 13, 2015 with respectéocctinsolidated balance sheets of Denny’s Corpaorasoof December 31, 2014 and
December 25, 2013 , and the related consolidagdmnsents of income, comprehensive income, sharef®hieficit, and cash flows for each
the fiscal years in the three-year period endeceBser 31, 2014 , and the effectiveness of intezoiadrol over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014 , which reports appear in theeDéer 31, 2014 annual report on Form 10-K of Desi@orporation.

/sl KPMG LLP
Greenville, South Carolina

March 13, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

[, John C. Miller, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of DgarCorporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or amgitate a material fact necessary to r
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeler which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period coverec
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material resp
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) aretriat control over financial reporting (as definradExchange Act Rules 13E5(f) anc
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedwrdse designed under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatiolatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtgubsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financiplording, or caused such internal control over fziahreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rigggatide reliability of financial reporting and theeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registgadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtils report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the teig's internal control over financial reportingat occurred during the registramthos
recent fiscal quarter (the registrantourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabr® that has materially affected, or is reasopéikely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal tmhover financial reporting; and

5. The registran$ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxzhon our most recent evaluation of internal @bmtver financial reportini
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commititthe registrant’'s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadses in the design or operation of internal comrar financial reporting which &
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrarg’interna
controls over financial reporting.

Date: March 13, 2015 By: /s/ John C. Miller
John C. Miller
President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, F. Mark Wolfinger, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of DgarCorporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or amgitate a material fact necessary to r
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeler which such statements were made, not misigadih respect to the period coverec
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material resp
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) aretriat control over financial reporting (as definradExchange Act Rules 13E5(f) anc
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedwrdse designed under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatiolatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtgubsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financiplording, or caused such internal control over fziahreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rigggatide reliability of financial reporting and theeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registgadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtils report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the teig's internal control over financial reportingat occurred during the registramthos
recent fiscal quarter (the registrantourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabr® that has materially affected, or is reasopéikely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal tmhover financial reporting; and

5. The registran$ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxzhon our most recent evaluation of internal @bmtver financial reportini
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commititthe registrant’'s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadses in the design or operation of internal comrar financial reporting which &
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrarg’interna
controls over financial reporting.

Date: March 13, 2015 By: /sl F. Mark Wolfinger
F. Mark Wolfinger
Executive Vice President,
Chief Administrative Officer and
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION

John C. Miller
President and Chief Executive Officer of Denny’'s@wation

and

F. Mark Wolfinger
Executive Vice President, Chief Administrative ©&r and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Denny’s @anmation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fisgaar ended December 31, 2044
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissionhe date hereof (the “Report?),John C. Miller, President and Chief Executivdi€r of

the Company, and |, F. Mark Wolfinger, Executive®/iPresident, Chief Administrative Officer and GHinancial Officer of the Compar

certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, aptatbpursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxtewf 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934; and
2) The information contained in the Report fairlgegents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of

Company.

Date: March 13, 2015 By: /sl John C. Miller
John C. Miller
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 13, 2015 By: /sl F. Mark Wolfinger
F. Mark Wolfinger
Executive Vice President,
Chief Administrative Officer and
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement reqditegy Section 906, or other document authenticaticgnowledging, or otherwise adopting
signature that appears in typed form within thecteteic version of this written statement requited Section 906, has been provide:
Denny’s Corporation and will be retained by Demn@orporation and furnished to the Securities axch&Bnge Commission or its staff uj
request.



